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OPEN TEXT CORPORATION

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands of U.S. dollars, except share data)

September 30, June 30,
2

009 2009
(unaudited)
ASSETS
Cash and cash eqUIValents . .. ........ouiiieit et $ 212,190 $ 275,819
Short-term investments (NOtE 3) ... ...ttt e 19,768 —
Accounts receivable trade, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $4,464 as of
September 30, 2009 and $4,208 as of June 30,2009 (note 4) . ..........coiern... 135,575 115,802
Income taxes recoverable (note 13) .. ... .. . 6,225 4,496
Prepaid expenses and other Current assets . .. ... ........eueuneneinennenennenen... 27,858 18,172
Deferred tax assets (note 13) ... ... .. i e 22,185 20,621
Total CuIrent aSSEtS . . ..ottt ittt e 423,801 434,910
Investments in marketable SECUItIES . . . ... ...ttt e — 13,103
Capital assets (MO8 5) . .. vttt et e e et e e e e 57,435 45,165
GoodWill (NOE 6) . . .ottt e 718,600 576,111
Acquired intangible assets (NOte 7) ... ... uu ittt 384,242 315,048
Deferred tax assets (NOte 13) ... ... it e 75,211 69,877
Other assets (NOLE 8) . .o\ v vttt et e e e e et e e e 18,871 13,064
Long-term income taxes recoverable (note 13) ......... ... ... .. .. ... . .. ... .. .. 42,391 39,958
Total ASSELS . . .. ot t $1,720,551  $1,507,236
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (note 9) ............ .. ... ... $ 128,660 $ 115,018
Current portion of long-term debt (note 11) . ......... .. .. .. .. . .. 3,489 3,449
Deferred revenues . ... ... 205,998 189,397
Income taxes payable (note 13) . ... . 7,707 10,356
Deferred tax liabilities (note 13) ... ... o it e 2,083 508
Total current liabilities . . . ... . ... 347,937 318,728
Long-term liabilities:
Accrued liabilities (NOt€ 9) . . . .. oottt e 21,506 23,073
Pension liability (note 10) ... ... 16,510 15,803
Long-termdebt (note 11) .. ... . .. e 299,182 299,234
Deferred revenues . .. ... ...t 10,969 7914
Long-term income taxes payable ... .......... .ttt 53,465 47,131
Deferred tax liabilities (note 13) . ......... . i 134,543 108,889
Total long-term liabilities ... ...... ... ottt 536,175 502,044
Shareholders’ equity:
Share capital (note 12)
56,373,651 and 52,716,751 Common Shares issued and outstanding at
September 30, 2009 and June 30, 2009, respectively; Authorized Common
Shares: unlimited . ......... . ... . . . . 588,871 457,982
Additional paid-in capital ... ..... ... 55,307 52,152
Accumulated other comprehensiveincome ............. .. ... ... . ... 86,052 71,851
Retained earnings . . ... ..ottt 106,209 104,479
Total shareholders’ equity ... ... ... .. ..ottt e 836,439 686,464
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity ................................... $1,720,551  $1,507,236

Guarantees and contingencies (note 18)
Related party transactions (note 21)

See accompanying Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
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OPEN TEXT CORPORATION

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
(In thousands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data)

(Unaudited)
Three months ended
September 30,
2009 2008
Revenues:
LICENSE o oottt $ 47,329 $ 50,074
CUSLOMET SUPPOTL .+« v vt et e e ettt et e e e et e e e e e e e e et eae s 123,649 98,429
Service and other . .. ... .. . e 40,444 34,120
Total TEVENUES . . . . . 211,422 182,623
Cost of revenues:
LCeNSE .o 3,145 2,893
CUSTOMET SUPPOTT .« « v et et et e e et et e e et e e e et e e et et ae s 20,939 15,567
Service and Other . . .. ... 33,294 27,729
Amortization of acquired technology-based intangible assets ................... 14,142 10,747
Total cost Of reVeNUES . . . ..ottt 71,520 56,936
GroOSS PrOfit . .ottt 139,902 125,687
Operating expenses:
Research and development ........... ... .. . i 31,542 28,578
Sales and marketing .. ......... . 50,690 44,832
General and adminiStrative . ... ...ttt 21,225 18,387
Depreciation . ... ..ot 4,147 2,698
Amortization of acquired customer-based intangible assets . .................... 8,917 8,215
Special charges (note 16) . ....... ... 18,589 —
Total Operating EXpPeNSES . . .« o v vt vt ettt e et e e 135,110 102,710
Income from OPerations . ... ... ... ...ttt 4,792 22,977
Other INCOME, NEL . . . oot e e e e e e e e e e 3,440 729
INterest EXPenSe, NEL . . ..ottt ettt e et e e e (3,046) (2,994)
Income before inCOmMEe taxXes . .. ...ttt 5,186 20,712
Provision for income taxes (note 13) . ....... ... .. . 3,456 5,932
Net income before minority iNterest . .. .. ... .....o.iutun et 1,730 14,780
MINOTILY INTETESE . . oottt e e e e e e e e e e — 119
Net income for the period .. ....... ... .. it $ 1,730 $ 14,661
Net income per share—basic (N0te 20) . ... ... .ttt $ 003 $ 029
Net income per share—diluted (note 20) . ............co it $ 003 $ 028
Weighted average number of Common Shares outstanding—basic . .................. 55,388 51,298
Weighted average number of Common Shares outstanding—diluted ................. 56,469 52,990

See accompanying Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements

4



OPEN TEXT CORPORATION

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF RETAINED EARNINGS
(In thousands of U.S. dollars)

(Unaudited)
Three months ended
September 30,
2009 2008
Retained earnings, beginning of period ............. . .. .. i $104,479 $47,541
NEtINCOME . .ottt e e e e e 1,730 14,661
Retained earnings, end of period . . ....... ... ... $106,209 $62,202

See accompanying Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
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OPEN TEXT CORPORATION

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(In thousands of U.S. dollars)
(Unaudited)

Cash flows from operating activities:

Net income for the period ... ..... ... .. i

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization . .................iiiii i
Share-based compensation EXPense . ... .........oueumenenennenenanann..
Employee long-term incentive plan ............... ...t
Excess tax benefits on share-based compensation expense ..................
Undistributed earnings related to minority interest . .. ......................
Pension eXpense . . ... ...
Amortization of debt iSSuance Costs .. ........ ...t
Unrealized (gain) loss on financial instruments . ..........................
Release of unrealized gain on marketable securities to income ...............
Deferred taxes . ... ..ottt

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Accounts receivable . ... ...
Prepaid expenses and other current assets . .................iiiiiaan...
INCOME tAXES . ..ot
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities ................ ... ... .. ... ....
Deferred revenue . .. ... ...t
Other @SSELS . . . v vttt et e e e e e e

Net cash provided by operating activities . .............c...ooiinininnenan. ..

Cash flows from investing activities:

Additions of capital assets-net . ............. i
Purchase of Vignette Corporation, net of cash acquired . ....................
Purchase of eMotion LLC, net of cash acquired . .. ........................
Purchase of a division of Spicer Corporation . .................c..coueu...
Purchase consideration for prior period acquisitions . ......................
Investments in marketable securities . .............. .. .. .. ...
Maturity of short-term investments . . ............ ...t ..

Net cash used in invVesting aCtivities . .. .......vu ittt

Cash flow from financing activities:

Excess tax benefits on share-based compensation expense . .................
Proceeds from issuance of Common Shares ............. ... ... ... .......
Repayment of long-termdebt ........ ... ... ... .
Debt 1SSUANCE COSLS . . v vttt ettt e et e e e e

Net cash provided by financing activities . ............. .. ... .
Foreign exchange gain (loss) on cash held in foreign currencies ..................
Decrease in cash and cash equivalents during the period ........................
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the period ..........................

Cash and cash equivalents atend of the period . . .. ......... ... ... ... ........

Supplementary cash flow disclosures (note 19)

Three months ended
September 30,

2009

2008

$ 1,730 $ 14,661

27206 21,660
3,506 1,423
2,675 1,059

691)  (6,629)
— 119
192 —
266 224

(2,390) (722)

(4,353) —

(2,957) (256)
7928 27,946

(3.218)  (1,926)

4787) 4,731

(9,343)  (18,369)

(12,437)  (19,430)
1,175 322
4502 24,813

(7,665)  (3,887)

(90,600) —

— (3,635)
— (10,836)

4,801)  (3,293)

— (3,608)

27,171 —

(75,895)  (25,259)

691 6,629
4,477 5,542

(864) (867)

(1,024) —
3280 11,304
4,484  (15,641)

(63,629)  (4,783)

275,819 254,916

$212,190 $250,133

See accompanying Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
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OPEN TEXT CORPORATION

UNAUDITED NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the Three Months Ended September 30, 2009
(Tabular amounts in thousands, except per share data)

NOTE 1—BASIS OF PRESENTATION

The accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements (consolidated financial
statements) include the accounts of Open Text Corporation and our wholly owned subsidiaries, collectively
referred to as “Open Text” or the “Company”. All inter-company balances and transactions have been eliminated.

These consolidated financial statements are expressed in U.S. dollars and are prepared in accordance with
United States generally accepted accounting principles (U.S. GAAP). These financial statements are based upon
accounting policies and the methods of their application are consistent with those used and described in our
annual consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2009. The consolidated financial
statements do not include certain financial statement disclosures included in the annual consolidated financial
statements prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP and therefore should be read in conjunction with the
consolidated financial statements and notes included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year
ended June 30, 2009.

The information furnished reflects all adjustments necessary for a fair presentation of the results for the
periods presented and includes the financial results of Vignette Corporation (Vignette), with effect from July 22,
2009 (see Note 17). The operating results for the three months ended September 30, 2009 are not necessarily
indicative of the results expected for any succeeding quarter or the entire fiscal year ending June 30, 2010.

Use of estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires us to make estimates,
judgments and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements. These
estimates, judgments and assumptions are evaluated on an ongoing basis. We base our estimates on historical
experience and on various other assumptions that we believe are reasonable at that time, the results of which
form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from those estimates. In particular, significant estimates,
judgments and assumptions include those related to: (i) revenue recognition, (ii) allowance for doubtful accounts,
(iii) testing goodwill for impairment, (iv) the valuation of acquired intangible assets, (v) long-lived assets,

(vi) the recognition of contingencies, (vii) facility and restructuring accruals, (viii) acquisition accruals and
pre-acquisition contingencies, (ix) asset retirement obligations, (x) realization of investment tax credits, (xi) the
valuation of stock options granted and liabilities related to share-based payments, including the valuation of our
long-term incentive plan, (xii) the valuation of financial instruments, (xiii) the valuation of pension assets and
obligations, and (xiv) accounting for income taxes.



OPEN TEXT CORPORATION

UNAUDITED NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)
For the Three Months Ended September 30, 2009
(Tabular amounts in thousands, except per share data)
Comprehensive income (loss)

The following table sets forth the components of comprehensive income (loss) for the reporting periods
indicated:

Three months ended

September 30,
2009 2008

Net income for the period . ........... ... .. .. . i, $ 1,730 $ 14,661
Other comprehensive income (loss)—net of tax, where applicable:

Foreign currency translation adjustments .......................... 18,448 (41,255)

Unrealized loss on short-term investments ......................... 37 —

Unrealized loss in investment in marketable securities .. .............. — (259)

Release of unrealized gain on marketable securities to income ......... (4,353) —

Unrealized gain on cash flow hedges . . ........ ... ... ... ... .. ..., 413 —

Actuarial loss relating to defined benefit pension plans ............... (270) —
Comprehensive income (loss) forthe period ... ........... ... ... ... .... $15,931  $(26,853)

NOTE 2—NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS AND ACCOUNTING POLICY UPDATES
Business Combinations

On July 1, 2009, we adopted the requirements of Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB)
Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) Topic 805 “Business Combinations” (FASB ASC Topic 805). Our
acquisition of Vignette was accounted for in accordance with this new business combination standard. (see Notes
6 and 17).

Accounting Standards Codification

In June 2009, the FASB issued Statement No. 168 “The FASB Accounting Standards Codification and the
Hierarchy of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles, a replacement of FASB Statement No. 162” (the
Codification). The Codification has become the single source of authoritative non-government U.S generally
accepted accounting principles (GAAP), superseding various existing authoritative accounting pronouncements.
The Codification eliminates the GAAP hierarchy contained in Statement No. 162 and establishes one level of
authoritative GAAP. All other U.S. GAAP literature is considered non-authoritative. This Codification is
effective for financial statements issued for interim and annual periods ending after September 15, 2009. We
have adopted the Codification in our first quarter of Fiscal 2010. There was no change to our consolidated
financial statements due to the implementation of the Codification other than changes in reference to various
authoritative accounting pronouncements in our Notes to consolidated financial statements.

Measuring Liabilities at Fair Value

In August 2009, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update 2009-05, “Fair Value Measurements and
Disclosures (Topic 820)—Measuring Liabilities at Fair Value” (Update 2009-05). Update 2009-05 provides
clarification that in circumstances in which a quoted price in an active market for the identical liability is not
available, a reporting entity is required to measure fair value of such liability using one or more of the techniques
prescribed by the update. We have adopted Update 2009-05 in our first quarter of Fiscal 2010 and its adoption
did not have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.
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OPEN TEXT CORPORATION

UNAUDITED NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)
For the Three Months Ended September 30, 2009
(Tabular amounts in thousands, except per share data)

Revenue Recognition Updates

In October 2009, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update 2009-13, “Revenue Recognition (Topic
605): Multiple-Deliverable Revenue Arrangements” (Update 2009-13). Update 2009-13 applies to multiple-
deliverable revenue arrangements that are currently within the scope of FASB ASC Subtopic 605-25 (previously
included in Emerging Issues Task Force Issue no. 00-21, “Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables”).
Update 2009-13 provides principles and application guidance on whether multiple deliverables exist, how the
arrangement should be separated, and the consideration allocated. It also requires an entity to allocate revenue in
an arrangement using estimated selling prices of deliverables if a vendor does not have vendor-specific objective
evidence or third-party evidence of selling price. The guidance eliminates the use of the residual method, requires
entities to allocate revenue using the relative-selling-price method, and significantly expands the disclosure
requirements for multiple-deliverable revenue arrangements. Additionally, in October 2009 the FASB also issued
Accounting Standards Update 2009-14 (Topic 985): “Certain Revenue Arrangements that Include Software
arrangements” (Update 2009-14). Update 2009-14 focuses on determining which arrangements are within the
scope of the software revenue guidance in ASC Topic 985 (previously included in AICPA Statement of Position
no. 97-2, Software Revenue Recognition) and which are not. Update 2009-14 removes tangible products from the
scope of the software revenue guidance if the products contain both software and non-software components that
function together to deliver a product’s essential functionality and provides guidance on determining whether
software deliverables in an arrangement that includes a tangible product are within the scope of the software
revenue guidance. Both of these Updates are effective on a prospective basis for revenue arrangements entered
into or materially modified in fiscal years beginning on or after June 15, 2010. We are currently assessing the
impact of these Updates on our future consolidated financial statements.

NOTE 3—SHORT-TERM INVESTMENTS

Short-term investments consist of certain marketable investments in U.S government agencies. These
investments were acquired by us as part of our acquisition of Vignette (see Note 17), and are accounted for as
“Available-for-sale” investments. Unrealized gains or losses on these investments are included in Accumulated
Other Comprehensive Income (AOCI). An unrealized loss of $37,000 was recorded within AOCI relating to the
change in fair value of these investments from the date of acquisition of Vignette (July 21, 2009) to
September 30, 2009. As of September 30, 2009, the fair value of these investments was $19.8 million based upon
quoted market prices.

NOTE 4—ALLOWANCE FOR DOUBTFUL ACCOUNTS

Balance of allowance for doubtful accounts as of June 30,2009 ....................... $4,208
Bad debt expense for the period . .......... . .. 929
Write-offs /adjustments . ... ... ... (673)

Balance of allowance for doubtful accounts as of September 30,2009 .................. $ 4,464




OPEN TEXT CORPORATION

UNAUDITED NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)
For the Three Months Ended September 30, 2009
(Tabular amounts in thousands, except per share data)

NOTE 5—CAPITAL ASSETS

As of September 30, 2009
Accumulated
Cost Depreciation Net
Furniture and fiXtUIES . . ... ..ottt e $ 14332 $ 8936 $ 5,396
Office eqQUIPMENT . . . oottt 8,344 6,990 1,354
Computer hardware . . . ... i 87,893 72,824 15,069
Computer SOTEWALS . . ..ottt ettt e 32,030 23,674 8,356
Leasehold improvements .. ..............ouiiniinenninenanenenan.. 26,013 14,385 11,628
Land and buildings . .......... ... . 17,365 1,733 15,632

$185,977 $128,542  $57,435

As of June 30, 2009
Accumulated
Cost Depreciation Net
Furniture and fiXtUIES . . ... ..ottt $ 11472 $ 7,677 $ 3,795
Office EqQUIPMENT . . . .ottt 8,696 7,674 1,022
Computer hardware . . .. ... i 77,813 66,118 11,695
Computer SOTEWALE . . ..ottt e ettt 28,094 20,679 7,415
Leasehold improvements . ...............ouiiiinenninenanenenan.. 19,662 13,074 6,588
Land and buildings . .......... ... 16,163 1,513 14,650

$161,900 $116,735  $45,165

NOTE 6—GOODWILL

Goodwill is recorded when the consideration paid for an acquisition of a business exceeds the fair value of
identifiable net tangible and intangible assets. The following table summarizes the changes in goodwill since
June 30, 2009:

Balance, June 30, 2009 . . ... $576,111
Acquisition of Vignette Corporation (note 17) .. .......... . ... 133,655
Adjustments relating to prior acqUiSitions . .............. . 6
Adjustments on account of foreign exchange ............. .. .. . . i 8,828
Balance, September 30, 2009 ... ... .. $ 718,600

NOTE 7—ACQUIRED INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Technology  Customer

Assets Assets Total
Net book value, June 30,2009 . ... . ... $173,547 $141,501 $315,048
Acquisition of Vignette Corporation (note 17) ......................... 68,200 22,700 90,900
AMOTItiZAtION EXPENSE . . ¢ . v vov et e e e et et (14,142) (8,917)  (23,059)
Foreign exchange and other impacts . ........... ... ... ... ... ... ..... 493 860 1,353
Net book value, September 30,2009 . ........ ... ..., $228,0908 $156,144 $384,242




OPEN TEXT CORPORATION

UNAUDITED NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

For the Three Months Ended September 30, 2009
(Tabular amounts in thousands, except per share data)

The range of amortization periods for intangible assets is from 4-10 years.

The following table shows the estimated future amortization expense for the fiscal years indicated below.

This calculation assumes no future adjustments to acquired intangible assets:

Fiscal years ending

June 30,
2010 (nine months ended June 30) ... ..... ... ... ... ... ... .. ... .... $ 71,760
20T L 93,693
200 91,114
2008 88,422
2014 and beyond .. ... ... LZSS
TOtal . oot $384,242
NOTE 8—OTHER ASSETS
As of September 30, As of June 30,
2009 2009
DEbBE ISSUANCE COSES .« v o v e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e $ 5,489 $ 4,728
Deposits and restricted cash . ...... ... .. . 8,548 4,615
Long-term prepaid expenses and other long-term assets ................... 4,491 3,130
Pension aSSelS . . ..ot 343 591
$18,871 $13,064

Debt issuance costs relate primarily to costs incurred for the purpose of obtaining long-term debt used to

partially finance the Hummingbird acquisition and are being amortized over the life of the long-term

debt. Deposits and restricted cash relate to security deposits provided to landlords in accordance with facility
lease agreements and cash restricted per the terms of facility-based lease agreements. Long-term prepaid
expenses and other long-term assets primarily relate to certain advance payments on long-term licenses that are
being amortized over the applicable terms of the licenses. Pension assets relate to defined benefit pension plans
for legacy IXOS employees and directors (see Note 10), recognized under FASB Accounting Standards

Codification Topic 715 “Compensation—Retirement Benefits™.

NOTE 9—ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES
Current liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities are comprised of the following:

As of September 30, As of June 30,
2009 2009
Accounts payable—trade ........... ... $ 9,353 $ 15,465
Accrued salaries and COMMISSIONS . . . ..ottt t ittt et ettt 35,555 31,973
Accrued liabilities . ... ... oo 61,324 49,527
Amounts payable in respect of restructuring (note 16) .................... 11,968 5,061
Amounts payable in respect of acquisitions and acquisition related accruals . . . 10,460 12,992
$128,660 $115,018
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OPEN TEXT CORPORATION

UNAUDITED NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)
For the Three Months Ended September 30, 2009
(Tabular amounts in thousands, except per share data)

Long-term accrued liabilities

As of September 30, As of June 30,
2009

2009
Amounts payable in respect of restructuring (note 16) .................... $ 716 $ 849
Amounts payable in respect of acquisitions and acquisition related accruals . . . 5,619 7,128
Other accrued liabilities ... ... e 6,392 7,936
Asset retirement Obligations . .. ...... ...t 8,779 7,160
$21,506 $23,073

Asset retirement obligations

We are required to return certain of our leased facilities to their original state at the conclusion of our lease.
We have accounted for such obligations in accordance with FASB Accounting Standards Codification Topic 410
“Asset Retirement and Environmental Obligations”. As of September 30, 2009 the present value of this
obligation was $8.8 million (June 30, 2009 — $7.2 million), with an undiscounted value of $10.6 million (June 30,
2009 — $8.7 million).

Accruals relating to acquisitions

In relation to our acquisitions made before July 1, 2009, the date on which we adopted FASB ASC Topic
805, we have accrued for costs relating to legacy workforce reductions and abandonment of excess legacy
facilities. Such accruals are capitalized as part of the cost of the subject acquisition and in the case of abandoned
facilities, have been recorded at present value less our best estimate for future sub-lease income and costs
incurred to achieve sub-tenancy. The accrual for workforce reductions is extinguished against the payments made
to the employees and in the case of excess facilities, will be discharged over the term of the respective leases.
Any excess of the difference between the present value and actual cash paid for the excess facility will be
charged to income and any deficits will be reversed to goodwill. The provisions for abandoned facilities are
expected to be paid by February 2015.
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OPEN TEXT CORPORATION

UNAUDITED NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)
For the Three Months Ended September 30, 2009
(Tabular amounts in thousands, except per share data)

The following table summarizes the activity with respect to our acquisition accruals during the three months
ended September 30, 2009.

Usage/
Foreign
Balance Exchange/ Subsequent Balance
June 30, Initial Other Adjustments  September 30,
2009 Accruals  Adjustments to Goodwill 2009
Captaris
Employee termination costs ............. $ 4916 $— $(2,347) $(39) $ 2,530
Excess facilities ...................... 6,123 — (442) 4) 5,677
Transaction-related costs ............... — — (49) 49 —
11,039 — (2,838) 6 8,207
Hummingbird
Employee termination costs ............. 25 — (13) — 12
Excess facilities ...................... 1,463 — (240) — 1,223
Transaction-related costs ............... — — — — —
1,488 — (253) — 1,235
IXOS
Employee termination costs ............. — — — — —
Excess facilities ...................... 7,483 — (952) — 6,531
Transaction-related costs ............... — — — — —
7,483 — (952) — 6,531
Centrinity
Employee termination costs ............. — — — — —
Excess facilities ...................... 110 — “4) — 106
Transaction-related costs ............... — — — — —
110 — @) — 106
Totals
Employee termination costs ............. 4,941 — (2,360) 39) 2,542
Excess facilities ...................... 15,179 — (1,638) 4) 13,537
Transaction-related costs . .............. — — 49) 49 —
$20,120  $— $(4,047) $ 6 $16,079

The adjustments to goodwill primarily relate to adjustments to amounts accrued for employee termination
costs and excess facilities accounted for in accordance with EITF 95-3. The goodwill adjustments relating to
amounts accrued for transaction costs are accounted for in accordance with SFAS 141, as they relate to
acquisitions consummated prior to the adoption of FASB ASC Topic 805 (on July 1, 2009).
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NOTE 10—PENSION PLANS AND OTHER POST RETIREMENT BENEFITS
CDT Defined Benefit Plan and CDT Long-term Employee Benefit Obligations:

On November 1, 2008, the following unfunded defined benefit pension plan and long-term employee benefit
obligations were acquired, relating to legacy Captaris employees of a wholly owned subsidiary of Captaris called
Captaris Document Technologies GmbH (CDT). As of September 30, 2009 and June 30, 2009, the balances
relating to these obligations were as follows:

Current portion of

Total benefit benefit Noncurrent portion of
obligation obligation* benefit obligation
CDT defined benefitplan .......... ... ... ... ... ...... $15,628 $375 $15,253
CDT Anniversary plan . ............ooiunininnenen.... 964 222 742
CDT early retirement plan .............. .. ... .. ... ..... 515 — 515
Total as of September 30,2009 ............ ... ... $17,107 $597 $16,510
Current portion of
Total benefit benefit Noncurrent portion of
obligation obligation* benefit obligation
CDT defined benefitplan .............. ... ... ... .... $14,828 $362 $14,466
CDT Anniversary plan . ............oouiuniiennenen.... 960 214 746
CDT early retirement plan . ............. .. .. .. ovu.... 591 — 591
Total as of June 30,2009 ....... ... .. .. ... . .. $16,379 $576 $15,803

* The current portion of the benefit obligation has been included within Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
within the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets.

CDT Defined Benefit Plan

CDT sponsors an unfunded defined benefit pension plan covering substantially all CDT employees (CDT
pension plan) which provides for old age, disability and survivors” benefits. Benefits under the CDT pension plan
are generally based on age at retirement, years of service and the employee’s annual earnings. The net periodic
cost of this pension plan is determined using the projected unit credit method and several actuarial assumptions,
the most significant of which are the discount rate and estimated service costs.

The following are the components of net periodic benefit costs for the CDT pension plan and the details of
the change in the benefit obligation for the periods indicated below:

As of September 30, As of June 30,

2009 2009

Benefit obligation—beginning . ................. i $14,828* $13,489%*
SEIVICE COSE . ottt ettt et e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e 108 349
Interest COSt . . ..ot 230 585
Benefits paid .. ... (74) (134)
Curtailment ain . ... ... e — (271)
Actuarial gain ... ... — (734)
Foreign exchange . . . ... ... i 536 1,544
Benefit obligation—ending . ........ ... ... 15,628 14,828
Less: current pOortion .. ... .. ...ttt (375) (362)
Noncurrent portion of benefit obligation .. ................ ... iiiii.... $15,253 $14,466
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*  Benefit obligation as of June 30, 2009.
**  Benefit obligation as of November 1, 2008.

The following are the details of net pension expense for the CDT pension plan for the period:

Three months ended

September 30, 2009
Pension expense:
SEIVICE COSE .+ vttt ettt e e ettt e e e e $108
INterest COSt . . ..ottt 230
Net Pension EXPeNSE . ... ..vuvuntn et ettt $338

The CDT pension plan is an unfunded plan and therefore no contributions have been made since the
inception of the plan.

In determining the fair value of the CDT pension plan as of September 30, 2009, we used the following
weighted average key assumptions:

Assumptions:

Salary INCTEASES . . v vttt ettt et e e e e e e e e e 2.25%

Pension INCIeases . . ... .. ..ottt e e e e 1.50%

DISCOUNT TALE . . . oottt e e et e e 6.00%

Employee fluctuation rate:
10 AZE 30 . .t 1.00%
L0 A 3 ot 0.50%
10 AZE A0 . .o e 0.00%
L0 AZE A ot 0.50%
10 AZE S0 .t e 0.50%
from age Sl .. o 1.00%

Anticipated pension payments under the CDT pension plan, for the fiscal years indicated below are as
follows:

2010 (nine months ended June 30) . ... ... ... i $ 301
20 L o 420
200 456
200 522
2004 615
2015 t0 20010 .o e 4,362
TOtAl « o v e e $6,676

CDT Long-term Employee Benefit Obligations.

CDT’s long-term employee benefit obligations arise under CDT’s “Anniversary plan” and an early
retirement plan. The obligation is unfunded and carried at a fair value of $1.0 million for the Anniversary plan
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and $0.5 million for the early retirement plan, as of September 30, 2009 ($1.0 million and $0.6 million,
respectively, as of June 30, 2009).

The Anniversary plan is a defined benefit plan for long-tenured CDT employees. The plan provides for a
lump-sum payment to employees of two months of salary upon reaching the anniversary of twenty-five years of
service and three months of salary upon reaching the anniversary of forty years of service. The early retirement
plan is designed to create an incentive for employees, within a certain age group, to transition from (full or part-
time) employment into retirement before their legal retirement age. This plan allows employees, upon reaching a
certain age, to elect to work full-time for a period of time and be paid 50% of their full-time salary. After
working within this arrangement for a designated period of time, the employee is eligible to take early retirement
and receive payments from the earned but unpaid salaries until they are eligible to receive payments under the
postretirement benefit plan discussed above. Benefits under the early retirement plan are generally based on the
employee’s compensation and the number of years of service.

IXOS AG Defined Benefit Plans

Included within “Other Assets” are net pension assets of $0.3 million (June 30, 2009 — $0.6 million) relating
to two IXOS defined benefit pensions plans (IXOS pension plans) in connection to certain former members of
the IXOS board of directors and certain IXOS employees, respectively (See Note 8). The net periodic pension
cost with respect to the IXOS pension plans is determined using the projected unit credit method and several
actuarial assumptions, the most significant of which are the discount rate and the expected return on plan assets.
The fair value of our total plan assets under the IXOS pension plans, as of September 30, 2009, is $3.8 million
(June 30, 2009 — $3.5 million). The fair value of our total pension obligation under the IXOS pension plans as of
September 30, 2009 is $3.5 million (June 30, 2009 — $2.9 million).

NOTE 11—LONG-TERM DEBT
Long-term debt

Long-term debt is comprised of the following:

As of September 30, As of June 30,
2009 2009

Long-term debt

Term 1oan . ... ... $290,264 $291,012
MOTEZAZE . . o o vttt e 12,407 11,671
302,671 302,683
Less:

Current portion of long-term debt
Termloan .. ... ... . 2,993 2,993
MOTtZAge . . o .ot 496 456
3,489 3,449
Long-term portion of long-termdebt ................................ $299,182 $299,234
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Term loan and Revolver

On October 2, 2006, we entered into a $465.0 million credit agreement (the credit agreement) with a
Canadian chartered bank (the bank) consisting of a $390.0 million term loan facility (the term loan) and a $75.0
million committed revolving long-term credit facility (the revolver). The term loan was used to finance a portion
of our Hummingbird acquisition. We have not made any withdrawals under the revolver from the inception date
to current date. During the quarter ended September 30, 2009 we incurred approximately $1.0 million of debt
issuance costs relating to certain covenant related amendments to the credit agreement that do not impact the
payments, outstanding amount or the interest rates under the credit agreement (a copy of the amended credit
agreement has been filed by us under a Form 8-K during September 2009).

Term loan

The term loan has a seven year term, expires on October 2, 2013 and bears interest at a floating rate of
LIBOR plus 2.25%. The quarterly scheduled term loan principal repayments are equal to 0.25% of the original
principal amount, due each quarter with the remainder due at the end of the term, less ratable reductions for any
non-scheduled prepayments made. From October 2, 2006 (the inception of the loan) to September 30, 2009, we
have made total non-scheduled prepayments of $90.0 million towards the principal on the term loan. Our current
quarterly scheduled principal payment is approximately $0.7 million.

For the three months ended September 30, 2009, we recorded interest expense of $1.8 million (three months
ended September 30, 2008 — $3.5 million) relating to the term loan.

Revolver

The revolver has a five year term and expires on October 2, 2011. Borrowings under this facility bear
interest at rates specified in the credit agreement. The revolver is subject to a “stand-by” fee ranging between
0.30% and 0.50% per annum depending on our consolidated leverage ratio. There were no borrowings
outstanding under the revolver as of September 30, 2009.

For the three months ended September 30, 2009, we recorded an expense of $0.06 million (three months
ended September 30, 2008 — $0.06 million), on account of stand-by fees relating to the revolver.

Mortgage

The mortgage consists of a five year mortgage agreement entered into during December 2005 with the bank.
The original principal amount of the mortgage was Canadian $15.0 million. The mortgage: (i) has a fixed term of
five years, (ii) matures on January 1, 2011, and (iii) is secured by a lien on our headquarters in Waterloo,
Ontario. Interest accrues monthly at a fixed rate of 5.25% per annum. Principal and interest are payable in
monthly installments of Canadian $0.1 million with a final lump sum principal payment of Canadian $12.6
million due on maturity.

As of September 30, 2009, the carrying value of the building was $15.6 million (June 30, 2009 — $14.7
million).

For the three months ended September 30, 2009, we recorded interest expense of $0.2 million (three months
ended September 30, 2008 — $0.2 million), relating to the mortgage.
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NOTE 12—SHARE CAPITAL, OPTION PLANS AND SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS
Share Capital

Our authorized share capital includes an unlimited number of Common Shares and an unlimited number of
first preference shares. No preference shares have been issued.

We did not repurchase any Common Shares during the three months ended September 30, 2009 and 2008.

On July 21, 20009, as part of the equity consideration for our acquisition of Vignette (see Note 17), we issued
3,440,984 Common Shares.

Share-Based Payments
Summary of Outstanding Stock Options

As of September 30, 2009, options to purchase an aggregate of 2,620,134 Common Shares were outstanding
and 1,674,595 Common Shares were available for issuance under our stock option plans. Our stock options
generally vest over four years and expire between seven and ten years from the date of the grant. The exercise
price of the options we grant is set at an amount that is not less than the closing price of our Common Shares on
the trading day for the NASDAQ immediately preceding the applicable grant date.

A summary of option activity under our stock option plans for the three months ended September 30, 2009
is as follows:

Weighted-
Average
Weighted- Remaining
Average Exercise  Contractual Term Aggregate Intrinsic Value
Options Price (years) ($°000s)
Outstanding at June 30,2009 ........ 2,828,989 $20.71
Granted ......................... 25,000 38.33
Exercised ........................ (232,191) 18.35
Forfeited orexpired ................ (1,664) 23.13
Outstanding at September 30, 2009 . ... 2,620,134 $21.09 4.05 $42.584
Exercisable at September 30, 2009 .... 1,606,801 $17.56 3.35 $31,771

We estimate the fair value of stock options using the Black-Scholes option pricing model, consistent with
the provisions of FASB Accounting Standards Codification Topic 718 “Compensation—Stock Compensation”
(FASB ASC Topic 718) and SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 107. The Black-Scholes option-pricing model
was developed for use in estimating the fair value of traded options that have no vesting restrictions and are fully
transferable, while the options issued by us are subject to both vesting and restrictions on transfer. In addition,
option-pricing models require input of subjective assumptions including the estimated life of the option and the
expected volatility of the underlying stock over the estimated life of the option. We use historical volatility as a
basis for projecting the expected volatility of the underlying stock and estimate the expected life of our stock
options based upon historical data.

We believe that the valuation technique and the approach utilized to develop the underlying assumptions are
appropriate in calculating the fair value of our stock option grants. Estimates of fair value are not intended,
however, to predict actual future events or the value ultimately realized by employees who receive equity awards.
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For the three months ended September 30, 2009, the weighted-average fair value of options granted, as of
the grant date, was $13.54, using the following weighted average assumptions: expected volatility of 40%; risk-
free interest rate of 2.2%; expected dividend yield of 0%; and expected life of 4.3 years. A forfeiture rate of 5%,
based on historical rates, was used to determine the net amount of compensation expense recognized.

For the three months ended September 30, 2008, the weighted-average fair value of options granted, as of
the grant date, was $13.69, using the following weighted average assumptions: expected volatility of 42%; risk-
free interest rate of 3.8%; expected dividend yield of 0%; and expected life of 4.4 years. A forfeiture rate of 5%,
based on historical rates, was used to determine the net amount of compensation expense recognized.

As of September 30, 2009, the total compensation cost related to the unvested stock awards not yet
recognized was $9.0 million, which will be recognized over a weighted average period of approximately 2 years.

As of September 30, 2008, the total compensation cost related to the unvested stock awards not yet
recognized was $12.0 million, which will be recognized over a weighted average period of approximately
3 years.

In each of the above periods, no cash was used by us to settle equity instruments granted under share-based
compensation arrangements.

We have not capitalized any share-based compensation costs as part of the cost of an asset in any of the
periods presented.

For the three months ended September 30, 2009, cash in the amount of $4.3 million was received as the
result of the exercise of options granted under share-based payment arrangements. The tax benefit realized by us
during the three months ended September 30, 2009 from the exercise of options eligible for a tax deduction was
$0.7 million, which was recorded as additional paid-in capital.

For the three months ended September 30, 2008, cash in the amount of $5.3 million was received as the
result of the exercise of options granted under share-based payment arrangements. The tax benefit realized by us
during the three months ended September 30, 2008 from the exercise of options eligible for a tax deduction was
$6.6 million, which was recorded as additional paid-in capital.

Restricted Stock Awards (RSAs)

On July 21, 2009, we granted, as part of our acquisition of Vignette, 570,548 Open Text RSAs to certain
legacy Vignette employees and directors as replacement for similar restricted stock awards held by these
employees and directors when they were employed by Vignette. These awards were valued at $13.33 on July 21,
2009, and a portion has been allocated to the purchase price of Vignette. The remaining portion will be amortized
as part of the share-based compensation expense over the vesting period of these awards. The pre-combination
portion of share-based compensation included in the purchase price of Vignette was $3.8 million.

Share-based compensation cost included in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income for the three
months ended September 30, 2009 was approximately $3.5 million, inclusive of a charge of $2.2 million booked
to Special charges (see Note 16).

Share-based compensation cost included in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income for the three
months ended September 30, 2008 was approximately $1.4 million.
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Long Term Incentive Plans

On September 10, 2007, our Board of Directors approved the implementation of a Long-Term Incentive
Plan called the “Open Text Corporation Long-Term Incentive Plan” (LTIP). Grants made in Fiscal 2008 under
the LTIP (LTIP 1) took effect in Fiscal 2008, starting on July 1, 2007. The LTIP is a rolling three year program
whereby we make a series of annual grants, each of which covers a three year performance period, to certain of
our employees, and which vests upon the employee and/or the Company meeting pre-determined performance
and market-based criteria. Awards under LTIP 1 may be equal to either 100% or 150% of target. The maximum
amount that an employee may receive with regard to any single performance criterion is 1.5 times the target
award for that criterion. Grants made in Fiscal 2009 under the LTIP (LTIP 2) took effect in Fiscal 2009 starting
on July 1, 2008. Awards under LTIP 2 may be equal to 100% of the target. We expect to settle the LTIP 1 and
LTIP 2 awards in cash.

Consistent with the provisions of FASB ASC Topic 718, we have measured the fair value of the liability
under the LTIP as of September 30, 2009 and recorded an expense relating to such liability to compensation cost
in the amount of $2.7 million for the three months ended September 30, 2009 (three months ended September 30,
2008 — $1.1 million), inclusive of an amount of $0.2 million which was recorded within Special charges (see
Note 16) relating to LTIP 1 accruals for certain employees who have been terminated as part of the Fiscal 2010
Restructuring Plan. The outstanding liability under the LTIP as of September 30, 2009 was $8.9 million (June 30,
2009 — $6.2 million ) and is re-measured based upon the change in the fair value of the liability, as of the end of
every reporting period, and a cumulative adjustment to compensation cost for the change in fair value is
recognized. The cumulative compensation expense recognized upon completion of the LTIP will be equal to the
payouts made.

NOTE 13—INCOME TAXES

Our effective tax rate represents the net effect of the mix of income earned in various tax jurisdictions that
are subject to a wide range of income tax rates.

Interest related to liabilities for income tax expense is classified under the “Interest income (expense), net”
line and penalties related to liabilities for income tax expense under the “Other income (expense)” line of our
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income. For the three months ended September 30, 2009, we recognized
interest and penalties in the amounts $0.9 million (three months ended September 30, 2008, $0.5 million) and a
recovery of $0.2 million (three months ended September 30, 2008, nil), respectively. The amount of interest and
penalties accrued as of September 30, 2009 was $5.5 million ($4.1 million as of June 30, 2009) and $9.8 million
($9.4 million as of June 30, 2009), respectively. Included in these balances as of September 30, 2009, are accrued
interest and penalties of $0.6 million each, respectively, relating to the acquisition of Vignette (see Note 17).

We believe that it is reasonably possible that the unrecognized tax benefits, as of September 30, 2009 could
increase in the next 12 months by $1.5 million (June 30, 2009, decrease by $0.2 million), relating primarily to the
expiration of competent authority relief prior to tax years becoming statute barred for purposes of future tax
examinations by local taxing jurisdictions.

Our three most significant tax jurisdictions are Canada, the United States and Germany. Our tax filings
remain subject to examination by applicable tax authorities for a certain length of time following the tax year to
which those filings relate. Tax years that remain open to examinations by local taxing authorities vary by
jurisdiction up to ten years.
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We are subject to tax examinations in all major taxing jurisdictions in which we operate and currently have
examinations open in Canada, Germany, the United States, France and Spain. On a quarterly basis we assess the
status of these examinations and the potential for adverse outcomes to determine the adequacy of the provision
for income and other taxes.

We believe that we have adequately provided for any reasonably foreseeable outcomes related to our tax
examinations and that any settlement will not have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial
position or results of operations. However, we cannot predict with any level of certainty the exact nature of any
future possible settlements.

NOTE 14—FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

FASB Accounting Standards Codification Topic 820 “Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures” (FASB
ASC Topic 820) defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value, and addresses disclosure
requirements for fair value measurements. Fair value is the price that would be received upon sale of an asset or
paid upon transfer of a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date
and in the principal or most advantageous market for that asset or liability. The fair value, in this context, should
be calculated based on assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability, not on
assumptions specific to the entity. In addition, the fair value of liabilities should include consideration of
non-performance risk including our own credit risk.

In addition to defining fair value and addressing disclosure requirements, FASB ASC Topic 820 establishes
a fair value hierarchy for valuation inputs. The hierarchy prioritizes the inputs into three levels based on the
extent to which inputs used in measuring fair value are observable in the market. Each fair value measurement is
reported in one of the three levels which are determined by the lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement in its entirety. These levels are:

e Level 1—inputs are based upon unadjusted quoted prices for identical instruments traded in active
markets.

e Level 2—inputs are based upon quoted prices for similar instruments in active markets, quoted prices
for identical or similar instruments in markets that are not active, and model-based valuation
techniques for which all significant assumptions are observable in the market or can be corroborated by
observable market data for substantially the full term of the assets or liabilities.

* Level 3—inputs are generally unobservable and typically reflect management’s estimates of
assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability. The fair values are
therefore determined using model-based techniques that include option pricing models, discounted cash
flow models, and similar techniques.
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Financial Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis:

Our financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis consisted of the following
types of instruments as of September 30, 2009:

Fair Market Measurements using:

Quoted prices

in active Significant
markets for other Significant
identical observable unobservable
assets inputs inputs
September 30, 2009 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Financial Assets:
Short-term investments . ..................o.... $19,768 $19,768 $ n/a $n/a
Derivative financial instrument assets (note 15) . ... 4,728 n/a 4,728 n/a
$24,496 $19,768 $4,728 $n/a
Financial Liabilities:
Derivative financial instrument liabilities
mote 15) ..ot $ 1,333 $ n/a $1,333 $n/a

Our valuation techniques used to measure the fair values of our marketable securities were derived from
quoted market prices as an active market for these securities exists. Our valuation techniques used to measure the
fair values of the derivative instruments, the counterparty to which has high credit ratings, were derived from the
pricing models including discounted cash flow techniques, with all significant inputs derived from or
corroborated by observable market data, as no quoted market prices exist for the derivative instruments. Our
discounted cash flow techniques use observable market inputs, such as monthly LIBOR-based yield curves, and
foreign currency spot and forward rates.

Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value on a Nonrecurring Basis

We measure certain assets at fair value on a nonrecurring basis. These assets are recognized at fair value
when they are deemed to be other-than-temporarily impaired. During the three months ended September 30,
2009, no indications of impairment were identified and therefore no fair value measurements were required.

NOTE 15—DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS AND HEDGING ACTIVITIES
Foreign Currency Forward Contracts

On December 30, 2008, we entered into a hedging program with a Canadian chartered bank, to limit the
potential foreign exchange fluctuations on future intercompany royalties and management fees that are expected
to be earned by our Canadian subsidiary from one of our U.S. subsidiaries. The program seeks to hedge
intercompany royalties and management fees. The contracts settle within eight to twelve months from inception
date and we do not use these forward contracts for trading or speculative purposes.

Our hedging strategy, under this program, is to limit the potential volatility associated with the foreign
currency gains and losses that may be experienced upon the eventual settlement of these transactions.
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We have designated these transactions as cash flow hedges of forecasted transactions under FASB
Accounting Standards Codification Topic 815 “Derivatives and Hedging” (FASB ASC Topic 815). Accordingly,
quarterly unrealized gains or losses on the effective portion of these forward contracts have been included within
other comprehensive income. Unrealized gains or losses on the ineffective portion of these forward contracts,
and the gain or loss on ineffective hedges that have been excluded from effectiveness testing have been classified
within “Other income (expense)”. The fair value of the contracts, as of September 30, 2009 and June 30, 2009, is
recorded within “Prepaid expenses and other current assets”.

As of September 30, 2009, the notional amount of forward contracts we held, to sell U.S. dollars in
exchange for Canadian dollars was $33.0 million (June 30, 2009 — $44.0 million).

In addition to the above we acquired a non-material foreign currency forward contract as a part of our
acquisition of Vignette (See Note 17). This contract is used to manage balance sheet exposures in a
non-functional currency and has not been designated as a hedging instrument pursuant to FASB ASC Topic 815.
Accordingly, the change in the fair value of this contract has been recorded within “Other income (expenses)”
and the fair value thereof has been recorded within “Accounts payable and accrued liabilities”. As of
September 30, 2009 the notional amount of this contract payable is $1.2 million.

Interest Rate Collar

As part of the requirements of the term loan credit agreement (see Note 11) we are required to maintain,
from thirty days following the date on which the term loan was entered into through to the third anniversary or
such earlier date on which the term loan is paid, an interest rate hedging arrangement with counter parties in
respect of the term loan. Accordingly, in October 2006, we entered into a three year interest rate collar that had
the economic effect of circumscribing the floating portion of the interest rate obligations associated with the term
loan within an upper limit of 5.34% and a lower limit of 4.79%. As of September 30, 2009 and June 30, 2009, the
notional amount of the interest rate collar was $100.0 million.

FASB ASC Topic 815 requires that written options meet certain criteria in order for hedge accounting to
apply. We determined that these criteria were not met and hence hedge accounting was not applied to the interest
rate collar.

The quarterly unrealized gains or losses on the interest rate collar and quarterly amounts payable by us to
the counter party are included within interest expense and the fair value of the interest rate collar is recorded with
“Accounts payable and accrued liabilities.”

Fair value of Derivative Instruments and Effect of Derivative Instruments on Financial Performance

The effect of these derivative instruments on our consolidated financial statements as of, and for the three
months ended September 30, 2009, were as follows (amounts presented do not include any income tax effects).
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Fair value of Derivative Instruments in the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet (see Note 14)

Asset derivatives Designated as Hedging
Instruments Balance Sheet Location Fair Value

Foreign currency forward contracts designated as cash flow

hedges ... Prepaid expenses and other current assets ~ $4,728
Liability derivatives Not Designated as Hedging
Instruments
Interest rate collar not designated as a hedging instrument ..  Accounts payable and accrued liabilities ~ $1,151
Foreign currency forward contracts not designated as
hedges . ... Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 182
$1,333
Effects of Derivative Instruments on Income and Other Comprehensive Income (OCI)
Amount of Amount of Gain or
Gain or (Loss) (Loss) Recognized
Amount of Location of Gain Reclassified in Income on
Gain or (Loss) or (Loss) from Derivative
Recognized in Reclassified from Accumulated Location of Gain or (Loss) (Ineffective
OCI on Accumulated OClI into Recognized in Income on Portion and
Derivative OCI into Income Income Derivative (Ineffective Portion and  Amount Excluded
Derivatives in Cash Flow (Effective (Effective (Effective Amount Excluded from from Effectiveness
Hedging Relationships Portion) Portion) Portion) Effectiveness Testing) Testing)
Three months Three months Three months
ended ended ended
September 30, September 30, September 30,
2009 2009 2009
Other
Foreign currency forward income
contracts .. ........... $2.835 (expense) $2,032 Other income (expense) $1,419
Location of Gain or (Loss) Amount of Gain or (Loss)
Recognized in Income on Recognized in Income on
Derivatives Not Designated as Hedging Instruments Derivative Derivative
Three months ended
September 30, 2009
Interestratecollar .. ........ ... .. ... ... . ... . . ... . ... Interest income(expense) $ 971
Foreign currency forward contracts not designated as hedges ...  Other income (expense) (182)

$ 789

NOTE 16—SPECIAL CHARGES

Special charges relate primarily to costs related to certain restructuring initiatives that we have undertaken from
time to time under our various restructuring plans. In addition, with effect from July 1, 2009, Special charges also
include acquisition-related costs related to acquisitions made on or after July 1, 2009.
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The following tables summarize total Special charges incurred during the three months ended September 30,
20009.

Three months ended
September 30, 2009

Fiscal 2010 Restructuring Plan (cash portion) ..................... $12,510
Fiscal 2010 Restructuring Plan (share-based compensation expense) . . . 2,182
Total Fiscal 2010 Restructuring Plan .. ................... ... .... 14,692
Fiscal 2009 Restructuring Plan .. ....... ... ... ... .. ... ... .... 2,505
Acquisition-related COStS . .. ... .. 1,392
Total .. $18,589

The total costs to be incurred in conjunction with the Fiscal 2010 restructuring plan are expected to be
approximately $32 million to $40 million, of which $14.7 million has been recorded within Special charges to
date. Reconciliations of the liability relating to each of our outstanding restructuring plans are provided
hereunder:

Fiscal 2010 Restructuring Plan (cash portion)

In the first quarter of Fiscal 2010, our Board approved, and we began to implement, restructuring activities
to streamline our operations and consolidate certain excess facilities (Fiscal 2010 restructuring plan). These
charges relate to work force reductions and other miscellaneous direct costs. The provision related to workforce
reduction is expected to be paid by September 2010. On a quarterly basis, we will conduct an evaluation of the
remaining balances relating to workforce reduction and revise our assumptions and estimates as appropriate.

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending liability for the three months ended September 30, 20009, is
shown below.

Workforce
Fiscal 2010 Restructuring Plan reduction  Facility costs Total
Balance as of June 30,2009 .. ... .. $ — $— $ —
Accruals and adjustments .. ......... .. 12,197 313 12,510
Cash payments . ... ..ottt (4,120) (20) (4,140)
Noncash draw-downs and foreign exchange .............. ... ... ...... 72 1 73
Balance as of September 30,2009 . ... ... .. $ 8,149 $294 $ 8,443

Fiscal 2009 Restructuring Plan

In the second quarter of Fiscal 2009, our Board approved, and we began to implement, restructuring
activities to streamline our operations and consolidate certain excess facilities (Fiscal 2009 restructuring plan).
These charges related to work force reductions, abandonment of excess facilities and other miscellaneous direct
costs, and do not include costs accrued for under EITF 95-3 in relation to our acquisition of Captaris (Note 9).
The total costs to be incurred in conjunction with the Fiscal 2009 restructuring plan is $16.7 million, which has
been recorded within Special charges to date. The $16.7 million charge consisted primarily of costs associated
with workforce reduction in the amount of $12.1 million and abandonment of excess facilities in the amount of
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$4.6 million. The provision related to workforce reduction is expected to be substantially paid by December 2009
and the provision relating to facility costs is expected to be paid by April 2012. On a quarterly basis, we will
conduct an evaluation of the remaining balances relating to workforce reduction and excess facilities and revise
our assumptions and estimates as appropriate.

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending liability for the three months ended September 30, 2009, is
shown below.

Workforce
Fiscal 2009 Restructuring Plan reduction  Facility costs Total
Balance as of June 30,2009 . . ... ... .. $ 2,718 $2.933 $ 5,651
Accruals and adjustments . .. ....... ... 1,882 623 2,505
Cash payments . . ... ...t (3,491) (814) (4,305)
Noncash draw-downs and foreign exchange ........................... 78 55 133
Balance as of September 30,2009 .. ........ ... $ 1,187 $2,797 $ 3,984

Fiscal 2006 Restructuring Plan

In the first quarter of Fiscal 2006, our Board approved, and we began to implement restructuring activities
to streamline our operations and consolidate our excess facilities (Fiscal 2006 restructuring plan). These charges
related to work force reductions, abandonment of excess facilities and other miscellaneous direct costs. The total
cost incurred in conjunction with the Fiscal 2006 restructuring plan was $20.9 million which has been recorded
within Special charges to date. The actions related to workforce reduction were completed as of September 30,
2007. The provisions relating to facility costs are expected to be paid by January 2014.

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending liability for the three months ended September 30, 2009 is
shown below.

Fiscal 2006 Restructuring Plan Facility costs
Balance as of June 30, 2009 . ... ... . $259
Accruals and adjustments . ......... .. —
Cash payments . ... ...ttt e e (22)
Noncash draw-downs and foreign exchange ............................ 20
Balance as of September 30,2009 . . ......... .. ... $257

NOTE 17—ACQUISITIONS
Fiscal 2010
Vignette Corporation.

On July 21, 2009, we acquired, by way of a merger agreement, all of the issued and outstanding shares of
Vignette Corporation (Vignette), an Austin, Texas based company that provides and develops software used for
managing and delivering business content. Per the terms of the merger agreement, each share of common stock
of Vignette (not already owned by Open Text) issued and outstanding immediately prior to the effective date of
the merger (July 21, 2009) was converted into the right to receive $8.00 in cash and 0.1447 of one Open Text
common share (equivalent to a value of $5.33 as of July 21, 2009). The acquisition of Vignette is expected to
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strengthen our ability to offer an expanded portfolio of Enterprise Content Management (ECM) solutions to
further consolidate our position as an independent leader in the ECM marketplace. In accordance with FASB

ASC Topic 805, this acquisition is accounted for as a business combination.

The results of operations of Vignette have been consolidated with those of Open Text beginning July 22,
20009.

Total consideration for this acquisition was comprised of:

Equity consideration paid . . . ... $125,223
Cash consideration paid . ...... ... 182,909
Fair value of total consideration transferred ............................. 308,132

Vignette shares already owned by Open Text through open market purchases (at
fairvalue) . ... .. 13,283
$321,415

Acquisition related costs (included in Special charges in the Condensed
Consolidated Statements of Income) for the three months ended
September 30, 2009 . .. .. $ 1,392

Assets Acquired and Liabilities Assumed

The recognized amounts of identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed, based upon their fair values
as of July 21, 2009 are set forth below:

Current assets (inclusive of cash acquired of $92,309) ..................... $172,632
Long-term assets ... ... ... ...ttt e 22,323
Intangible CUSTOMETr @SSELS . .. .. oottt 22,700
Intangible technology assets . .......... ... ... 68,200
Total liabilities assumed . .. ... ..ot (98,095)
Total identifiable NEt @SSES . . . ...ttt 187,760
GoodWill . .. 133,655
Net assets aCqUIred . . ... oottt $321,415

The fair value of Common shares issued as part of the consideration was determined based upon the closing
price of Open Text’s common shares on acquisition date.

The factors that impact the qualitative composition of goodwill, the allocation of goodwill to our reporting
units and the deductibility thereof for income tax purposes are currently being assessed.

The fair value of current assets acquired includes accounts receivable with a fair value of $27.1 million. The
gross amount receivable is $28.3 million, of which $1.2 million is expected to be uncollectible.

As of acquisition date, Vignette had significant deferred tax assets that were subject to valuation allowances
including deferred tax assets relating to the domestic federal net operating loss (NOL) carryforwards. Internal
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Revenue Code Section 382 imposes substantial restrictions on the utilization of these NOLs in the event of an
“ownership change” of the corporation. We are currently assessing our ability to utilize these tax attributes prior
to their expiration. The final valuation of the deferred tax assets could result in a material change in the above
indicated amount of goodwill and intangible assets.

The fair value of the acquired intangible customer assets of $22.7 million, intangible technology assets of
$68.2 million, and deferred revenues of $33.1 million is provisional pending receipt of the final valuations for
these items.

We recognized a gain of $4.4 million as a result of re-measuring to fair value our investment in Vignette
held before the date of acquisition. The gain is included in “Other income” in our consolidated financial
statements.

The amount of Vignette’s revenue and net income included in Open Text’s consolidated statement of
operations for the three months ended September 30, 2009 and the revenue and net income of the combined
entity, had the acquisition date been July 1, 2009 and July 1, 2008, are set forth below:

Revenue Net loss
Actual from July 22, 2009 to September 30,2009 .......... ... ... ........ $25917  $(4,284)
Three months ended
September 30,
Supplemental Proforma Information 2009 2008
TOtal TEVEIUES . . o v vttt e e e e e e e e e e e $217,629  $224,499
Netincome (10SS) ...ttt $(15,690) $ 8,063

Included within net income for both the three months ended September 30, 2009 and 2008 are the estimated
amortization charges relating to the allocated values of intangible assets.

NOTE 18—GUARANTEES AND CONTINGENCIES
Guarantees and indemnifications

We have entered into license agreements with customers that include limited intellectual property
indemnification clauses. Generally, we agree to indemnify our customers against legal claims that our software
products infringe certain third party intellectual property rights. In the event of such a claim, we are generally
obligated to defend our customers against the claim and either settle the claim at our expense or pay damages that
our customers are legally required to pay to the third-party claimant. These intellectual property infringement
indemnification clauses generally are subject to limits based upon the amount of the license sale. We have not
made any indemnification payments in relation to these indemnification clauses.

In connection with certain facility leases, we have guaranteed payments on behalf of our subsidiaries either
by providing a security deposit with the landlord or through unsecured bank guarantees obtained from local
banks.

We have not disclosed a liability for guarantees, indemnities or warranties described above in the
accompanying Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets since the maximum amount of potential future payments
under such guarantees, indemnities and warranties is not determinable.
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Litigation

We are subject from time to time to legal proceedings and claims, either asserted or unasserted, that arise in
the ordinary course of business, and accrue for these items where appropriate. While the outcome of these
proceedings and claims cannot be predicted with certainty, we do not believe that the outcome of any of these
legal matters will have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial position, results of operations and

cash flows. Currently, we are not involved in any litigation that we reasonably believe could materially impact
our financial position or results of operations and cash flows.

NOTE 19—SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW DISCLOSURES

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:

Three months ended

September 30,
2009 2008
Cash paid during the period forinterest .................c..oiiiiinnenn .. $3,165  $4,504
Cash received during the period forinterest .. ........... ... ... ... .. $ 338 $1,767
Cash paid during the period for income taxes . ............c.oouvirnennenn .. $5,736  $3,452

NOTE 20—NET INCOME PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share are computed by dividing net income by the weighted average number of Common
Shares outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings per share are computed by dividing net income by the
shares used in the calculation of basic net income per share plus the dilutive effect of common share equivalents,
such as stock options, using the treasury stock method. Common share equivalents are excluded from the
computation of diluted net income per share if their effect is anti-dilutive.

Three months ended

September 30,

2009 2008
Basic earnings per share
NELINCOME . ot e et et et e e e e e e e $ 1,730 $14,661
Basic earnings pershare ............. ...t $ 003 $ 029
Diluted earnings per share
NELINCOME . oo ettt e e e e e e e e e $ 1,730 $14,661
Diluted earnings per share . . ...........i ittt $ 003 $ 028
Weighted average number of shares outstanding
BasiC .o 55,388 51,298
Effect of dilutive SECUrities . ... ...ttt i 1,081 1,692
Diluted . ... 56,469 52,990
Excluded as anti-dilutive * ... ... ... . . .. . 476 64

* Represents options to purchase Common Shares excluded from the calculation of diluted net income per share
because the exercise price of the stock options was greater than or equal to the average price of the Common
Shares during the period.
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NOTE 21—RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During the three months ended September 30, 2009, Mr. Stephen Sadler, a director, earned approximately
$0.3 million (Three months ended September 30, 2008 — $0.1 million) in consulting fees from Open Text for
assistance with acquisition-related business activities. Mr. Sadler abstained from voting on all transactions from
which he would potentially derive consulting fees.
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operation

In addition to historical information, this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains forward-looking
statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, Section 21E of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and is
subject to the safe harbors created by those sections. Words such as “anticipates,” “expects,” “intends,”
“plans,” “believes,” “seeks,” “estimates,” “may,” “could,” “would,” “might,” “will” and variations of these
words or similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements. In addition, any statements
that refer to expectations, beliefs, plans, projections, objectives, performance or other characterizations of future
events or circumstances, including any underlying assumptions, are forward-looking statements. These forward-
looking statements involve known and unknown risks as well as uncertainties, including those discussed herein
and in the notes to our financial statements for the three months ended September 30, 2009, certain sections of
which are incorporated herein by reference. The actual results that we achieve may differ materially from any
forward-looking statements, which reflect management’s opinions only as of the date hereof. We undertake no
obligation to revise or publicly release the results of any revisions to these forward-looking statements. You
should carefully review Part I1 Item 1A “Risk Factors” and other documents we file from time to time with the
Securities and Exchange Commission. A number of factors may materially affect our business, financial
condition, operating results and prospects. These factors include but are not limited to those set forth in our
Annual Report on Form 10-K and Part 11 Item 1A “Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this report. Any one of these
factors may cause our actual results to differ materially from recent results or from our anticipated future
results. You should not rely too heavily on the forward-looking statements contained in this Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q, because these forward-looking statements are relevant only as of the date they were made.

FI AT
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The following MD&A is intended to help readers understand the results of our operation and financial
condition, and is provided as a supplement to, and should be read in conjunction with, our consolidated financial
statements and the accompanying Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (the Notes) under Part
I, Iteml of this Form 10-Q.

All growth and percentage comparisons made herein refer to the three months ended September 30, 2009
(first quarter of Fiscal 2010) compared with the three months ended September 30, 2008 (first quarter of Fiscal
2009), unless otherwise noted. All references to “Notes” made herein are references to the Notes to our
Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.

BUSINESS OVERVIEW
Open Text

We are an independent company providing Enterprise Content management (ECM) software solutions.
ECM is the set of technologies used to capture, manage, store, preserve, find and retrieve “word” based content.
We focus solely on ECM software solutions with a view to being recognized as “The Content Experts” in the
software industry. We continually endeavor to be at the leading edge of content management technology, by
continually upgrading and improving on our product offering. This is done internally and through acquisitions of
companies that own technologies we feel will benefit our clients.

Our initial public offering was on the NASDAQ in 1996 and subsequently on the Toronto Stock Exchange
in 1998. We are a multinational company and currently employ approximately 3,900 people worldwide.

Quarterly Highlights:
Some highlights of our operating results this quarter include:
e Total revenue increased by 15.8% on a quarter over quarter basis to $211.4 million.
» Customer support revenue increased to $123.6 million, equivalent to a 25.6% increase over the same

period in the prior fiscal year.
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*  We completed the acquisition of Vignette Corporation (Vignette) which we acquired for $321.4
million, inclusive of the fair value of Vignette shares already held by us.

e This quarter, our Board approved, and we began to implement, our Fiscal 2010 restructuring plan. The
total costs to be incurred in conjunction with the Fiscal 2010 restructuring plan are expected to be
approximately $32.0 to $40.0 million, of which $14.7 million has been recorded within Special charges
to date.

Other highlights were as follows:

* In early October 2009, we announced the expansion of our SAP reseller agreement to include “SAP
Extended ECM by Open Text.” This marks another expansion of the original reseller agreement signed
with SAP in 2007.

e In early October 2009, we announced the latest release of Open Text Enterprise Connect. The new
version furthers Enterprise Connect as a powerful content service that makes it easy to blend content
and processes within users’ preferred working environments.

e In September 2009, we received the highest rating possible, a “Strong Positive,” in leading analyst firm
Gartner’s 2009 “MarketScope for Records Management,” published on September 10, 2009.

e In August 2009, we were positioned in the Leaders quadrant of the Gartner 2009 Magic Quadrant for
Web Content Management, based on an evaluation of the company’s ability to execute and its
completeness of vision.

e In August 2009, we were included on Fortune’s 2009 List of the 100 Fastest-Growing Companies,
ranking 15th overall and 6th on the list’s breakdown of “fastest-growing” technology companies.

Acquisitions

Our competitive position in the marketplace requires us to maintain a complex and evolving array of
technologies, products, services and capabilities. In light of the continually evolving marketplace in which we
operate, we regularly evaluate various acquisition opportunities within the ECM marketplace and elsewhere in
the high technology industry, in addition to our internal Research and Development activities. We believe our
acquisitions support our long-term strategic direction, strengthen our competitive position, expand our customer
base and provide greater scale to accelerate innovation, grow our earnings and increase shareholder value. We
expect to continue to strategically acquire companies, products, services and technologies to augment our
existing business.

On July 21, 2009, we acquired Vignette, a provider of ECM software products. Vignette is based in Austin,
Texas with worldwide operations. We believe that this acquisition will further consolidate our position as an
independent leader in the ECM marketplace and help strengthen our Web Content Management (WCM) product
offering in conjunction with our existing RedDot products (see Note 17).

Partners

Partnerships are fundamental to the Open Text business. We have developed strong and mutually beneficial
relationships with key technology partners, including major software vendors, systems integrators, and storage
vendors, which give us leverage to deliver customer-focused solutions. Key partnership alliances of Open Text
include, but are not limited to, Oracle®, Microsoft©, SAP®, Deloitte, and Accenture®. We rely on close
cooperation with partners for sales and product development, as well as for the optimization of opportunities
which arise in our competitive environment. We continually aim to strengthen our global partner program, with
emphasis on developing strategic relations and achieving close integration with partners. Our partners continue to
generate business in key areas such as archiving, records management and compliance.
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Our revenue from partners contributed approximately 42% of our license revenues in the three months
ended September 30, 2009 compared to approximately 37% during the three months ended September 30, 2008.

Outlook for Fiscal 2010

We believe that we have a strong position in the ECM market and that the market for content solutions
remains robust. We have a diversified geographic profile, in that approximately 50% of our revenues are from
outside of North America. Also, over 50% of our revenues are from customer support revenues, which are a
recurring source of income and as such, we expect this trend to continue. Additionally, our focus on compliance
based products also helps insulate us from “downturns” in the current macroeconomic environment.

Results of Operations
Revenues
Revenue by Product Type and Geography:

The following tables set forth our revenues by product, revenue as a percentage of the related product
revenue and revenue by major geography for each of the periods indicated:

Revenue by product type
Three months ended
September 30, gl};?;'ag:é
(In thousands) 2009 2008 (decrease)
LICENSE . . .ottt $ 47,329 $ 50,074 $(2,745)
CUSLOMET SUPPOTT .« o v vt et ettt e e e e e e e e e e e e 123,649 98,429 25,220
Services and Other ... ....... .. .. .. . . . . . 40,444 34,120 6,324
Total ..o $211,422 $182,623  $28,799
Three months ended
September 30,

(% of total revenue) 2009 2008

LiCeNSE . ..o 22.4% 27.4%

CUStOMET SUPPOIT . . .ottt ettt 58.5% 53.9%

Services and Other . ......... .. e 19.1% 18.7%

Total .. 100.0% 100.0%

Revenue by Geography

Th ths ended
September 30, Change/
(In thousands) 2009 2008 (decrease)
NOIth AMETICA .« o v et e e e e e e e e e $107,317 $ 84,292 $23,025
BUrope . ..o 91,386 89,422 1,964
Other . ..o 12,719 8,909 3,810
Total .. $211,422 $182,623  $28,799
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Three months ended

September 30,
% of total revenue 2009 2008
NOrth AMETICa . ..ot e e e et e e e 50.8%  46.2%
BUrOpe . . .o 432%  49.0%
Other . . 6.0% 4.8%

Total .. 100.0% 100.0%

License Revenue consists of fees earned from the licensing of software products to customers. Our license
revenues are affected by the strength of general economic and industry conditions, governmental budgetary
constraints, the competitive strength of our software products, and our acquisitions. Our new license business is
also characterized by long sales cycles whereby the timing of a few large software license transactions can
substantially affect our quarterly new software license revenues.

License revenue decreased by approximately $2.7 million in the three months ended September 30, 2009 as
compared to the three months ended September 30, 2008. The main impact on license sales relates to our WCM
products as some of our customers have temporarily deferred purchases of our WCM products in anticipation
of being able to broaden their WCM capabilities in the next three to six months in response to our imminent
“Roadmap” for Vignette/Red Dot WCM capabilities. Additionally, core license revenues in the current quarter
were impacted by the current economic turbulence—which caused our license sales in North America to come in
slightly below expectations.

Customer Support Revenue consists of revenue from our customer support and maintenance agreements.
These agreements allow our customers to receive technical support, enhancements and upgrades to new versions
of our software products when and if available. Customer support revenue is generated from support and
maintenance relating to current year sales of software products and from the renewal of existing maintenance
agreements for software licenses sold in prior periods. Because of our large installed base, the renewal rate has
more influence on total customer support revenue in comparison to the impact that the current software revenue
has. Therefore changes in customer support revenue do not necessarily correlate directly to the changes in license
revenue from period to period. The terms of support and maintenance agreements are typically twelve months,
with customer renewal options. New license sales create additional customer support agreements which
contribute substantially to the increase in our customer support revenue.

Customer support revenues increased by approximately $25.2 million in the three months ended
September 30, 2009. The increase in customer support revenues is attributable to an increase in North America
Customer support sales of $17.3 million, an increase in Europe customer support sales of $5.5 million and the
remainder of the increase is due to sales generated in other geographies.

Service and Other Revenue. Service revenue consists of revenues from consulting contracts, contracts to
provide training and integration services (Professional Services). “Other” revenue consists of hardware revenue.
These revenues are grouped within the “Service and Other” category because they are relatively immaterial. For
the three months ended September 30, 2009, hardware revenues were $3.8 million. The amount of service
revenues recognized tends to lag software revenue recognition. Professional Services, if purchased, are typically
performed after the purchase of new software licenses.

Service and other revenues increased by approximately $6.3 million in the three months ended
September 30, 2009. The increase in services and other revenues is due to an increase in North America service
and other revenues of $6.7 million, offset by a decrease in Europe service and other revenues by $2.0 million.
The remainder of the change in Service and other revenues is from revenue generated in other geographies.
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Cost of Revenue and Gross Margin by Product Type

The following tables set forth the changes in cost of revenues and gross margin by product type for the
periods indicated:

Three months ended

September, 30 gl};?;'ag:é
(In thousands) 2009 2008 (decrease)
LICENSE . ..o $ 3,145 $2893 §$ 252
CUSIOMET SUPPOTE .« o v vt ettt e e e e e e e e e e 20,939 15,567 5,372
Service and Other . ... ... . . 33,294 27,729 5,565
Amortization of acquired technology-based intangible assets ................ 14,142 10,747 3,395
Total ..o $71,520 $56,936 $14,584
Three months ended
September 30,
Gross Margin 2009 2008

LaCeNSE . .t 93.4%  94.2%
CUuStomer SUPPOIT . . . . oottt et 83.1% 84.2%
Service and Other . ... ... . e 17.7% 18.7%

Cost of license revenue consists primarily of royalties payable to third parties and product media
duplication, instruction manuals and packaging expenses.

Cost of license revenue remained consistent in the three months ending September 30, 2009 as compared to
the three months ending September 30, 2008, increasing slightly by $0.3 million. Overall gross margin on cost of
license revenue has decreased slightly to approximately 93.4% primarily due to an increase in third party
royalties and related costs.

Cost of customer support revenues is comprised primarily of technical support personnel and related costs,
as well as third party royalty type costs.

Cost of customer support revenues increased by $5.4 million, which is primarily due to an increase in direct
costs, associated with increased customer support revenues for the three months ended September 30, 2009.
Overall gross margin on cost of customer support revenue has decreased slightly to approximately 83.1%
primarily due to an increase in third party royalties and higher labour costs. Headcount relating to our customer
support business has increased by 129 employees from September 30, 2008 to September 30, 2009

Cost of service and other revenues consists primarily of the costs of providing integration, customization
and training with respect to our various software products. The most significant components of these costs are
personnel related expenses, travel costs and third party subcontracting. Cost of service and other revenues have
increased by $5.6 million in the three months ending September 30, 2009 as compared to the three months
ending September 30, 2008. The gross margin on cost of service and other revenues has decreased to
approximately 17.7% primarily due to an increase in direct labor and related costs. Headcount relating to our
professional services business has increased by 105 employees from September 30, 2008 to September 30, 2009.

Amortization of acquired technology-based intangible assets increased by $3.4 million due to the increase
in intangible assets as of September 30, 2009 on account of the acquisitions made by us after September 30,
2008.
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Operating Expenses

The following table sets forth total operating expenses by function and as a percentage of total revenue for
the periods indicated:

Three months ended

September 30, gll;i‘gfseé
(In thousands) 2009 2008 (decrease)
Research and development ... ...........ouiiieiineieenennnn.. $ 31,542 $ 28578 $ 2,964
Sales and marketing . ........ ... . 50,690 44,832 5,858
General and adminiStrative . .. ...ttt 21,225 18,387 2,838
Depreciation . ... ...t 4,147 2,698 1,449
Amortization of acquired customer-based intangible assets ............... 8,917 8,215 702
Special charges .. ... 18,589 — 18,589
Total .. $135,110 $102,710 $32,400

Three months ended

September 30,

(in % of total revenue) 2009 2008

Research and development .. ....... ... i 149%  15.6%
Sales and marketing ... .. ...t 24.0%  24.5%
General and adminiStrative . ... ... ... 10.0%  10.1%
Depreciation . ... ..o vt e 2.0% 1.5%
Amortization of acquired customer-based intangible assets ................... 4.2% 4.5%
Special Charges . ... ... 8.8% 0.0%

Research and development expenses consist primarily of personnel expenses, contracted research and
development expenses, and facility costs. Research and development enables organic growth and as such we
dedicate extensive efforts every quarter to update and upgrade our product offering. As such, research and
development expenses do not necessarily correlate with revenues. The primary driver is typically budgeted
software upgrades and software development.

Research and development expenses increased by approximately $3.0 million in the three months ended
September 30, 2009 as compared to the same period in the prior fiscal year, primarily due to an increase in direct
labour and labour-related benefits and expenses of $3.6 million. The remainder of the difference is due to a
decrease in other research and development related expenses.

Headcount at September 30, 2009, related to research and development activities, increased by 347
employees compared to September 30, 2008.

Sales and marketing expenses consist primarily of personnel expenses and costs associated with advertising
and trade shows, and are usually closely linked to fluctuations in our revenues, discounting for obvious
fluctuations in our macroeconomic environment.

Sales and marketing expenses increased by $5.9 million primarily due to an increase in direct labour and
labour-related benefits and expenses of $4.9 million, an increase in overhead expenses of $0.6 million and an
increase in consulting expenses of $0.3 million. The remainder of the difference is due to an increase in other
sales and marketing related expenses.

Headcount at September 30, 2009, related to sales and marketing activities, increased by 134 employees
compared to September 30, 2008.
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General and administrative expenses consist primarily of salaries of administrative personnel, related
overhead, facility expenses, audit fees, consulting expenses and public company costs. This quarter general and
administrative expenses increased on account of the accretive effect of our acquisition of Vignette.

General and administrative expenses as a percentage of total revenue remained relatively stable at 10.0%
and 10.1% for the three months ended September 30, 2009 and the three months ended September 30, 2008
respectively.

General and administrative expenses increased by $2.8 million, which is primarily due to an increase in
office expenses of $1.9 million, an increase in direct labour and labour-related benefits and expenses in the
amount of $1.4 million, offset by a decrease in overhead expenses in the amount of $1.3 million. The remainder
of the difference is mainly due to an increase in other general and administrative expenses relating to the
accretive impact of Vignette.

Headcount at September 30, 2009, related to general and administrative activities, increased by
171employees compared to September 30, 2008.

Depreciation expenses increased by $1.4 million, due to increased capital asset acquisitions.

Amortization of acquired intangible customer-based assets increased by $0.7 million due to the increase in
customer-based intangible assets as of September 30, 2009, on account of the acquisitions made by us after
September 30, 2008.

Special charges typically relate to amounts that we expect to pay on account of restructuring plans relating
to employee workforce reduction and abandonment of excess facilities, impairment of long-lived assets,
acquisition related costs (with effect from July 1, 2009 and onwards) and other non-recurring charges. Generally,
we implement such plans in the context of streamlining existing Open Text operations that get impacted by
significant acquisitions. Actions related to such restructuring plans are, more often than not, completed within a
period of one year. In certain limited situations, if the planned activity does not need to be implemented, or an
expense lower than anticipated is paid out, we record a recovery of the originally recorded expense to Special
charges.

In accordance with the new accounting rules which are applicable to us with effect from July 1, 2009,
acquisition-related expenses are required to be included in the determination of income and may not, as was
permitted earlier, be capitalized as part of the cost of the acquisition. As a result, in the quarter ended
September 30, 2009, we recorded an additional expense (within Special charges) of $1.4 million on account of
expenses related to our acquisition of Vignette.

During the three months ended September 30, 2008, no restructuring related charges were recorded. In the
three months ended September 30, 2009, $18.6 million of restructuring related charges were recorded primarily
due to the implementation of the Fiscal 2010 Restructuring Plan, which was announced and approved by our
board this quarter. The Fiscal 2010 Restructuring Plan is designed to restructure our workforce and to rationalize
and consolidate our excess facilities. For more details on Special charges, see Note 16.

Other income. Other income increased by $2.7 million in the three months ended September 30, 2009 as
compared to the three months ended September 30, 2008. This increase was due to the impact of the release of
the unrealized gain (from accumulated comprehensive income to income) on Vignette shares purchased by Open
Text through open market purchases in the amount of $4.4 million. The remainder of the change in other income
is due to the impact of other miscellaneous items.

Net interest expense is primarily made up of cash interest paid on our debt facilities and the unrealized gain
(loss) on our interest rate collar, offset by interest income earned on our cash and cash equivalents.
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Interest expense relates primarily to interest paid on our $390.0 million long-term debt incurred in October
2006, (the term loan), for the purpose of partially financing our Hummingbird acquisition. The term loan bears
floating-rate interest at LIBOR plus a fixed rate which is currently set at 2.25% per annum.

Net interest expense remained relatively consistent at $3.0 million for the three months ended September 30,
2009 and the three months ended September 30, 2008.

For more details on interest expenses see Note 11 and also the discussion under “Long-term Debt and Credit
Facilities” under the “Liquidity and Capital Resources” section of this MD&A.

Income taxes. The tax rate in the quarter ended September 30, 2009 is higher compared to the tax rate for
the quarter ended September 30, 2008 primarily due to the de-recognition of certain transfer pricing benefits that
no longer offset the liability.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

The following table sets forth changes in cash flow from operating, investing and financing activities for the
periods indicated:

Three months ended

September 30, gll;i‘gfseé
(In thousands) 2009 2008 (decrease)
Cash provided by operating activities . ..............uueirneeunnennnn... $ 4,502 $24,813 $(20,311)
Cash used by investing activities . .............uuiireeiineernnennnn.n. $75,895 $25,259 $ 50,636
Cash provided by financing activities . ..............c.cuiiineiinnernnn .. $ 3,280 $11,304 $ (8,024)

Cash flows provided by operating activities

Cash flows from operating activities decreased primarily due to slower cash collections of accounts
receivable as a result of the acquisition of Vignette in the amount of approximately $12.0 million and an increase
of approximately $8.4 million on account of restructuring costs and $1.4 million of acquisition costs expended in
the current quarter. The remaining change in cash flows from operating activities is due to miscellaneous items.

Cash flows used in investing activities

Cash flows used in investing activities increased primarily as a result of an increase in cash used for the
Vignette acquisition, offset by cash received from the maturity of short term investments. The remainder of the
change was due to miscellaneous items.

Cash flows from financing activities

Our cash flows from financing activities consist of long-term debt financing and monies received from the
issuance of shares exercised by our employees. These inflows are typically offset by scheduled and
non-scheduled repayments of our long-term debt financing and, when applicable, the repurchases of our shares.

Cash flows from financing activities decreased primarily because of a decrease in excess tax benefits on
share-based compensation expense and because we received less proceeds from the issuance of Common Shares.

Long-term Debt and Credit Facilities

On October 2, 2006, we entered into a $465.0 million credit agreement (the credit agreement) with a
Canadian chartered bank (the bank) consisting of the term loan facility in the amount of $390.0 million and a
$75.0 million committed revolving long-term credit facility (the revolver). The term loan was used to partially
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finance the Hummingbird acquisition and the revolver will be used for general business purposes, if necessary.
No amount has been drawn under the revolver to date. The credit agreement is guaranteed by us and certain of
our subsidiaries. For details relating to this and our other credit facilities, see Note 11.

Commitments and Contractual Obligations

We have entered into the following contractual obligations with minimum annual payments for the indicated
Fiscal periods as follows:

Payments due by period ending June 30,

Total 2010 2011 -2012 2013-2014 2015 and beyond
Long-term debt obligations .................. $341,223 $11,247  $36,780  $293,196 $ —
Operating lease obligations * ................ 132,827 24,718 43,131 26,598 38,380
Purchase obligations ....................... 4,871 2,012 2,486 373 —

$478,921 $37,977 $82,397  $320,167 $38,380

* Net of $8.8 million of non-cancelable sublease income to be received from properties which we have
subleased to other parties.

The long-term debt obligations are comprised of interest and principal payments on our term loan agreement
and a five-year mortgage on our headquarters in Waterloo, Ontario. See Note 11.

Litigation
We are subject from time to time to legal proceedings and claims, either asserted or unasserted, that arise in
the ordinary course of business. While the outcome of these proceedings and claims cannot be predicted with

certainty, our management does not believe that the outcome of any of these legal matters will have a material
adverse effect on our consolidated financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We do not enter into off-balance sheet financing as a matter of practice except for the use of operating
leases for office space, computer equipment, and vehicles. None of the operating leases described in the previous
sentence has, or potentially may have, a material current or future effect on our financial condition (including any
possible changes in our financial condition), revenue, expenses, and results of operations, liquidity, capital
expenditures or capital resources. In accordance with U.S. GAAP, neither the lease liability nor the underlying
asset is carried on the balance sheet, as the terms of the leases do not meet the criteria for capitalization.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with U.S.GAAP. These accounting
principles require us to make certain estimates, judgments and assumptions. We believe that the estimates,
judgments and assumptions upon which we rely are reasonable based upon information available to us at the time
that these estimates, judgments and assumptions are made. These estimates, judgments and assumptions can
affect the reported amount of assets and liabilities as of the date of the financial statements as well as the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the periods presented. To the extent that there are material differences
between these estimates, judgments and assumptions and actual results, our financial statements will be affected.
The accounting policies that reflect our more significant estimates, judgments and assumptions and which we
believe are the most critical to aid in fully understanding and evaluating our reported financial results include the
following:

e Revenue recognition

e Business combinations
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* Goodwill and intangible assets—Impairment Assessments
e Accounting for income taxes
* Legal and other contingencies

e The valuation of stock options granted and liabilities related to share-based payments, including the
long-term incentive plan

e Allowance for doubtful accounts
* Facility and restructuring accruals
¢ Financial instruments

e The valuation of pension assets and obligations

Please refer to our MD&A contained in Part II, Item 7 of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for our fiscal
year ended June 30, 2009 and Note 2 to Part I of this Form 10-Q for a more complete discussion of our critical
accounting policies and estimates.

New Accounting Standards

For information relating to new accounting pronouncements and the impact of these pronouncements on our
consolidated financial statements, see Note 2.

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

We are primarily exposed to market risks associated with fluctuations in interest rates on our term loan and
foreign currency exchange rates.

Interest rate risk

Our exposure to interest rate fluctuations relate primarily to our term loan, as we had no borrowings
outstanding under our line of credit as of September 30, 2009. As of September 30, 2009, we had an outstanding
balance of $290.3 million on the term loan. The term loan bears a floating interest rate of LIBOR plus a fixed
rate of 2.25%. As of September 30, 2009, an adverse change in LIBOR of 300 basis points (3.0%) would have
the effect of increasing our annual interest payment on the term loan by approximately $8.7 million, absent the
impact of our interest rate collar referred to below and assuming that the loan balance as of September 30, 2009,
is outstanding for the entire period.

We manage our interest rate exposure, relating to $100.0 million of the above mentioned term loan, with an
interest rate collar that partially hedges the fluctuation in LIBOR. The collar has a notional value of
$100.0 million, a cap rate of 5.34% and a floor rate of 4.79%. This has the effect of circumscribing our maximum
floating interest rate risk within the range of 5.34% to 4.79%. The collar expires in December 2009. As of
September 30, 2009, the fair value of the collar was a payable in the amount of $1.2 million.

Foreign currency risk

Our reporting currency is the U.S dollar. On account of our international operations, a substantial portion of
our cash and cash equivalents is held in currencies other than the U.S. dollar. As of September 30, 2009, this
balance represented approximately 51% of our total cash and cash equivalents. A 10% adverse change in foreign
exchange rates versus the U.S. dollar would have decreased our reported cash and cash equivalents by
approximately 5%.
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Our international operations expose us to foreign currency fluctuations. Revenues and related expenses
generated from subsidiaries, other than those located in the U.S, are generally denominated in the functional
currencies of the local countries. These functional currencies include Euros, Canadian Dollars, Australian dollars
and British Pounds. The income statements of our international operations are translated into U.S. dollars at the
average exchange rates in each applicable period. To the extent the U.S. dollar strengthens against foreign
currencies, the foreign currency conversion of these foreign currency denominated transactions into U.S. dollars
results in reduced revenues, operating expenses and net income (loss) for our international operations. Similarly,
our revenues, operating expenses and net income (loss) will increase for our international operations, if the U.S.
dollar weakens against foreign currencies. We cannot predict the effect foreign exchange fluctuations will have
on our results going forward. However, if there is a change in foreign exchange rates versus the U.S. dollar, it
could have a material effect on our results of operations.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

As of the end of the period covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, our management, with the
participation of the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, performed an evaluation of the
effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures as defined in Rule
13a-15(e) promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the Exchange Act). Based upon
that evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that as of September 30,
2009, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective to provide reasonable assurance that information
required to be disclosed in our reports filed or submitted under the Exchange Act was recorded, processed,
summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the Securities and Exchange Commission’s rules
and forms, and that material information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including the
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required
disclosure.

Changes in Internal Controls over Financial Reporting

Based on the evaluation completed by our management, in which our Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer participated, our management has concluded that there were no changes in our internal control
over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act) during the fiscal quarter ended
September 30, 2009 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal
controls over financial reporting.
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PART II OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1A. Risk Factors
Risk Factors

In addition to the information set forth below, you should carefully consider the factors discussed in Part I,
Item 1A, “Risk Factors” in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for our fiscal year ended June 30, 2009. These are
not the only risks and uncertainties facing us. Our business is also subject to general risks and uncertainties that
affect many other companies.

Our acquisition Vignette may adversely affect our operations in the short term

In July 2009, we acquired all of the issued and outstanding common shares of Vignette Corporation. This
acquisition represents a significant opportunity for our business. However, this acquisition also presents certain
risks, including but not limited to:

e the risk that the potential benefits of this acquisition would not be realized fully as a result of
challenges we might face in integrating the customers, technology, personnel and operations of the
acquired company with ours;

e the risk that the potential benefits of this acquisition would not be realized fully as a result of general
industry-wide conditions, macroeconomic developments or other factors;

» the risk that Open Text’s management will need to devote substantial time and resources to the
integration of the acquired corporation with ours at the expense of attending to and growing Open
Text’s business or other business opportunities; and

e the risk associated with any other additional demands that this acquisitions would place on our

management.

We cannot ensure that we will be successful in retaining key Vignette employees. In addition, our
operations may be disrupted if we fail to adequately retain and motivate all of the employees who work for the
combined entity.
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Item 6. Exhibits

The following exhibits are filed with this report:

Exhibit
Number Description of Exhibit
10.29 Second Amendment to the Credit Agreement between Open Text Corporation and Royal Bank of

Canada and others, dated September 24, 2009. (1)
10.30* (Revised) Employment Agreement, dated July 1, 2009 between John Wilkerson and the Company

31.1 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer, pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) of the Exchange Act, as
adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

31.2 Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) of the Exchange Act, as
adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.1 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C Section 1350, as adopted
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.2 Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C Section 1350, as adopted
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

101.INS XBRL instance document

101.SCH XBRL taxonomy extension schema

101.CAL XBRL taxonomy extension calculation linkbase
101.DEF XBRL taxonomy extension definition linkbase
101.LAB XBRL taxonomy extension label linkbase

101.PRE XBRL taxonomy extension presentation linkbase

*  Indicates management contract relating to compensatory plans or arrangements.

(1) Filed as an Exhibit to the Company’s Report on Form 8-K, as filed with the SEC on September 30, 2009 and
incorporated herein by reference.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the registrant has duly
caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

OPEN TEXT CORPORATION
Date: October 28, 2009 By: /s/  JOHN SHACKLETON
John Shackleton

President and Chief Executive Officer

/s/ PAUL MCFEETERS

Paul McFeeters
Chief Financial Officer
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Exhibit 10.30
EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT

THIS AGREEMENT made as of the 15T Day of July, 2009
(the ““Effective Date’”)

AMONG

OPEN TEXT, INC.
a corporation incorporated under the laws of
the State of Illinois (hereinafter referred to as
the “Corporation”)

OF THE FIRST PART
-and -

JOHN WILKERSON,
aresident of the State of Texas,
(hereinafter referred to as the “Executive”)

OF THE SECOND PART

WHEREAS the Corporation is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Open Text Corporation, a corporation amalgamated under the laws of
Ontario, Canada (hereinafter “Open Text Corporation”);

WHEREAS the Executive has agreed to enter into and deliver this Agreement in consideration of receiving certain additional benefits
and other additional compensation as provided for pursuant to the terms of this Agreement;

NOW THEREFORE THIS AGREEMENT WITNESSES that in consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements herein
contained and for other good and valuable consideration, the parties agree as follows:



DEFINITIONS

For the purposes of this Agreement, the following terms shall have the following meanings, respectively:

a.

‘“Affiliate” means, with respect to any Person, any other Person that directly or indirectly through one or more
intermediaries, controls or is controlled by, or is under common control with, the Person specified. For the purposes of this
definition and Agreement, the term “Control” means the possession, direct or indirect, of the power to direct or cause the
direction of the management and policies of a Person, whether through the ownership of voting securities, by contract or
otherwise;

‘“Agreement” means this Employment Agreement as may be amended or supplemented from time to time, including any
and all schedules annexed hereto;

“Annual Base Salary” has the meaning ascribed to that term in Section 5(a) hereof;

“Board of Directors” means the board of directors of Open Text Corporation as may be constituted from time to time, and
“Directors” means the directors of Open Text Corporation;

“Change of Control” means either of the following events:
i the sale of all or substantially all of the assets of Open Text Corporation; or

ii. any transaction whereby any person, together with Affiliates and Associates of such person, or any group of persons
acting in concert (collectively, “Acquiror” or “Acquirors”), acquires beneficial ownership of more than 50% of the
issued common shares of Open Text Corporation on a fully diluted basis, or any transaction as a result of which
beneficial ownership of common shares constituting more than 50% in the aggregate of the issued common shares
of Open Text Corporation on a fully diluted basis cease to be held by persons who are shareholders of Open Text
Corporation as at the date hereof or by Affiliates or Associates of such present shareholders;

(for the purposes of this definition and this Agreement, the terms “Associate,” “group,” and “beneficial ownership”’ shall
have the meanings ascribed thereto under Rule 14a-1(a) of the General Rules of the Exchange Act, Section 14(d)(2) of the
Exchange Act, and Rule 13d-3 of the General Rules of the Exchange Act, respectively);



“Compensation Committee” means the compensation committee of the Board of Directors of Open Text Corporation as
may be constituted from time to time;

“Date of Termination” shall mean the date of termination of the Executive’s employment, whether by death of the
Executive, by the Executive or by the Corporation pursuant to the terms of this Agreement;

“Disability”” has the meaning ascribed to that term in Section 11(b) hereof;
“Exchange Act” means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended from time to time;

“Incumbent Director” shall mean any member of the Board of Directors who was a member of the Board of Directors
immediately prior to a Change of Control and any successor to an Incumbent Director who was recommended or appointed
to succeed any Incumbent Director by the affirmative vote of the Directors when that affirmative vote includes the
affirmative vote of a majority of the Incumbent Directors then on the Board of Directors;

“Just Cause” shall mean:

i the failure by the Executive to perform his duties according to the terms of his employment or in a manner
satisfactory to the Board of Directors (other than those (A) that follow a demotion in his position or duties or
(B) resulting from the Executive’s Disability) after the Corporation has given the Executive reasonable notice of
such failure and a reasonable opportunity to correct it;

ii. the engaging by the Executive in any act that is materially injurious to the Corporation, monetarily or otherwise, but
not including, following a Change of Control, the expression of opinions contrary to those directors of the
Corporation who are not Incumbent Directors or those of the Acquirors;

iii.  the engaging by the Executive in any illegal conduct or any act of dishonesty resulting or intended to result directly
or indirectly in personal gain of the Executive at the Corporation’s expense, including the failure by the Executive to
honor his fiduciary duties to the Corporation and his duty to act in the best interests of the Corporation;



iv.

vi.

the failure by the Executive to comply with the provisions of Section 11(d) where the Executive elects to terminate
his employment with the Corporation unless notice of such termination of employment is properly given in
accordance with the terms of Section 14(b) hereof;

the failure of the Executive to abide by the terms of any resolution passed by the Board of Directors; or

the failure by the Executive to abide by the policies, procedures and codes of conduct of Open Text Corporation and
the Corporation.

“Person” or “persons” includes an individual, sole proprietorship, partnership, unincorporated association, unincorporated
syndicate, unincorporated organization, trust, body corporate, and a natural person in his capacity as trustee, executor,
administrator or other legal representative;

“Parachute Event” means the occurrence of the following without the Executive’s written consent (except in connection
with the termination of the employment of the Executive for Just Cause or Disability or termination of the Executive’s
employment because of the death of the Executive):

i.

ii.

iil.

iv.

a material change (other than those that are consistent with a promotion) in the Executive’s position or duties,
responsibilities, title or office in effect immediately prior to the Change of Control (except for a change in any
position or duties as a director of the Corporation), which includes any removal of the Executive from or any failure
to re-elect or re-appoint the Executive to any such positions or offices.

a material reduction by the Corporation or any of its subsidiaries of the Executive’s salary, benefits or any other
form of remuneration payable by the Corporation or its subsidiaries; or

any material failure by the Corporation or its subsidiaries to provide any benefit, bonus, profit sharing, incentive,
remuneration or compensation plan, stock ownership or purchase plan, pension plan or retirement plan in which the
Executive is participating or entitled to participate immediately prior to a Change of Control, or the Corporation or
its subsidiaries taking any action or failing to take any action that would materially adversely affect the Executive’s
participation in or materially reduce his rights or benefits under or pursuant to any such plan;

any other material breach by the Corporation of this Agreement;



n. “Voluntary Termination” means the termination of the Executive’s employment with the Corporation by the Executive at
his discretion in accordance with the provisions of Section 11(d) of this Agreement.

2. TERM

The initial term of this Agreement shall be one (1) year commencing on the Effective Date of this Agreement (“Initial Term”’),
subject to earlier termination as provided for in this Agreement. At the end of the Initial Term and each subsequent year thereafter,
this Agreement shall be deemed to be extended automatically for an additional one-year term on the same terms and conditions unless
either party gives contrary written notice to the other party no less than three (3) months prior to the date on which this Agreement
would otherwise be extended.

3. DUTIES

The Executive is engaged and agrees to perform services for and on behalf of the Corporation as its EVP, Global Sales,
Services and Support or in such other capacity to which the Executive may be assigned by the Corporation from time to time. The
Executive shall perform such duties and exercise such powers pertaining to the management and operation of the Corporation and any
subsidiaries and Affiliates of the Corporation as may be determined from time to time by the Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”’) and
the Reporting Manager (as defined below) consistent with the office of the Executive. The Executive shall:

devote his full time, attention, and best efforts to the business, affairs, and goodwill of the Corporation;

b.  perform those duties that may be assigned to the Executive diligently and faithfully to the best of the Executive’s abilities
and in the best interests of the Corporation; and

c.  use his best efforts to promote the interest and goodwill of the Corporation.

4. REPORTING PROCEDURES

The Executive shall report to John Shackleton. The Executive shall report fully on the management, operations, and business
affairs of the Corporation and advise to the best of his ability and in accordance with business standards on business matters that may
arise from time to time during the term of this Agreement.



5.

6.

7.

REMUNERATION AND BENEFITS

a.

The Corporation shall pay to the Executive as compensation for his services provided hereunder an annual base salary
(“Annual Base Salary”) for each year of the term of this Agreement, which shall be determined by the Reporting
Manager and the CEO (and the Compensation Committee, as may be required) and set out in a separate document, subject
to the provisions of Section 7, and which shall be exclusive of bonuses, benefits and other compensation as provided for
herein. The Annual Base Salary shall be payable in accordance with the Corporation’s regular payroll practices for senior
executives or in such other manner as may be mutually agreed upon, less, in any case, all applicable deductions or
withholdings as required by law. The Annual Base Salary shall be in accordance with Schedule “A” subject to the
provisions of Section 7.

The Corporation shall provide the Executive with employee benefits comparable to those provided by the Corporation
from time to time to other senior executives of the Corporation. Benefits to be enjoyed by the Executive during the term of
this Agreement shall include, but not be limited to, those benefits set forth in Schedule “B”, as amended from time to time,
and shall include reimbursement of any properly incurred expenses as provided for in Section 10 hereof.

The Executive will be eligible to participate in the ‘“Long-Term Incentive Program” (LTIP) upon the July 1s
immediately following accepting employment with the corporation. The value of the LTIP is determined at the beginning
of the LTIP term in relation to the Executive’s on-target-earnings. (OTE = Executive’s annual base salary + variable
compensation at target). This value target will be used for the three-year term of the incentive plan.

ANNUAL VARIABLE COMPENSATION

In addition to the Executive’s Annual Base Salary, the Executive may be awarded an additional bonus (the “Variable
Compensation”), which shall be based upon performance goals approved by the CEO (and the Compensation Committee, as may be
required) from time to time and set forth in a separate document. Any changes respecting the amount or other terms of the Variable
Compensation payable to the Executive must be approved by the CEO (and if required, the Board of Directors). The Variable
Compensation target at 100% shall be in accordance with Schedule “A” subject to the provisions of Section 7.

SALARY AND/OR BONUS ADJUSTMENTS

Other than as herein provided, there shall be no cost-of-living increase or merit increase in the Annual Base Salary or increases
in any variable compensation payable to the Executive unless agreed to in writing by the Reporting Manager. The Reporting Manager
shall review annually the Annual Base Salary and all other compensation to be received by the Executive under this Agreement along
with the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors.



8. OPTIONS and SHARES

a.  Options. The Corporation shall permit the Executive to participate in any share option plan, share purchase plan,
retirement plan or similar plan offered by the Corporation from time to time to its senior executives in the manner and to
the extent authorized by the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors. The Compensation Committee of the
Board of Directors may, in its absolute discretion, grant additional options, subject to approval by the Board of Directors,
and it may review the advisability of additional option grants for the Executive.

b.  Shares. The Executive agrees to comply with the Equity Ownership Policy as set out in accordance with Exhibit II.

9. VACATION

The Executive shall be entitled to 20 days paid vacation per fiscal year of the Corporation at a time approved in advance by the
CEO, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld but shall take into account the staffing requirements of the Corporation and
the need for the timely performance of the Executive’s responsibilities. Any vacation entitlement hereunder shall be subject to the
Corporation’s policy respecting same in effect from time to time.

10. EXPENSES

Subject to the terms of this section, the Executive shall be reimbursed for all reasonable travel and other out-of-pocket expenses
actually and properly incurred by the Executive from time to time in connection with carrying out his duties hereunder. Determination
of whether expenses are reasonable or not shall be made by the CEO. For all such expenses the Executive shall furnish to the
Corporation originals of all invoices or statements in respect of which the Executive seeks reimbursement.

11. TERMINATION
a. For Just Cause

The Corporation may immediately terminate the employment of the Executive for Just Cause without notice or any payment in
lieu of notice, and for purposes of greater certainty, the Corporation shall have no obligation to make any payments to the Executive
on account of severance or bonuses or partial bonuses or any other amounts except as expressly stipulated in Section 12(a) hereof.



b. For Disability

1.

ii.

iil.

iv.

This Agreement may be immediately terminated by the Corporation by notice to the Executive if the Executive is
determined to suffer from disability (hereinafter referred to as “Disability”). The Executive shall be deemed to suffer
from Disability if in any year during the employment period, because of ill health, physical or mental disability, or
for other causes beyond the control of the Executive, the Executive has been continuously unable or unwilling or has
failed to perform the Executive’s duties for 120 consecutive days, or if, during any year of the employment period,
the Executive has been unable or unwilling or has failed to perform his duties for a total of 180 days, consecutive or
not. The CEO, acting reasonably (subject to Section 32 below), shall finally determine if the Executive is suffering
from ill health, physical or mental disability or other causes beyond his control during the time periods as
hereinbefore set forth in the event of any dispute between the Executive and the Corporation concerning the
occurrence of Disability for purposes of this Section.

Notwithstanding any short term or long term corporate benefits or insurance policies relating to disability
maintained by the Corporation at the relevant time, if during any period of ill health, physical or mental disability or
for other causes beyond the control of the Executive, the Executive has been continuously unable or unwilling or has
failed to perform the Executive’s duties less than 120 consecutive days (the “Short-Term Illness”), the Executive
shall continue to receive all amounts of remuneration and benefits otherwise payable to and enjoyed by the
Executive under this Agreement less any and all amounts received by and/or payable to the Executive in connection
with benefits paid and/or payable as a result of such Short-Term Illness.

Upon termination of this Agreement as a result of Disability, the Corporation shall pay to the Executive the
severance payment provided for in Subsection 12(b) hereof less any and all amounts received by and/or payable to
the Executive in connection with benefits paid and/or payable as a result of the Disability.

The term “any year of the employment period” means any period of 12 consecutive months during the employment
period.



c. For Death

This Agreement shall terminate immediately, without notice or any payment in lieu thereof, upon the death of the Executive.
d. Voluntary Termination by Executive

If the Executive is desirous of voluntarily terminating his employment with the Corporation at any time during the Agreement or
in accordance with the terms for non-renewal under Section 2 hereof, the Executive agrees to give the Corporation 3 months advance
written notice of such termination and further agrees that he shall not be entitled to any payment on account of severance under
Section 12(b) hereof. The Reporting Manager or the CEO may waive such notice in writing after consulting with the Board of
Directors, in their sole and absolute discretion, in which case the Executive’s employment shall be deemed to terminate immediately,
provided the Executive shall still be entitled to compensation due on account of Annual Base Salary and benefits earned up to the last
date of the 3 month advance written notice period given by the Executive and any Variable Compensation earned and prorated during
such 3 month notice period. Provided that the Executive gives the 3 month notice as required hereunder, any unvested options which
would have otherwise vested during such advance written notice period shall be permitted to continue to vest during such period. The
Executive shall have the right to exercise any options which are vested as at the Date of Termination for the period which is 90 days
following such Date of Termination (the “90 Day Period”). For purposes of this Section 11(d), the term “Date of Termination” shall
mean the actual day on which the Executive ceases to be employed plus the remainder of the 3 month notice period if and to the
extent waived by the Reporting Manager or the CEO in consultation with the Board of Directors. Any termination properly given
under Section 14(b) hereof and in accordance with the terms thereof shall not be considered a voluntary termination under this
Section 11(d).

e. Termination by Corporation Other than For Just Cause, Disability or Death

The Corporation may terminate the employment of the Executive for any reason other than Just Cause, Disability or death of the
Executive, notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, upon compliance with the terms of Section 12(b) hereof. In the
event of non-renewal of this Agreement by the Corporation in accordance with Section 2 hereof, the Corporation shall comply with
the terms of Section 12(b) hereof.

12. SEVERANCE PAYMENTS

a.  Upon termination of the Executive’s employment for Just Cause, the Executive shall not be entitled to any severance or
other payment other than Annual Base Salary earned by the Executive before the Date of Termination calculated pro rata
up to and including the Date of Termination and all outstanding and accrued vacation pay to the Date of Termination.
Upon termination of the Executive’s employment: (i) for death; or (ii) by the voluntary termination of employment by the
Executive pursuant to Section 11(d) hereof, the Executive shall not be entitled to any severance or other payment other



than Annual Base Salary and any Variable Compensation earned by the Executive before the Date of Termination
calculated pro rata up to and including the Date of Termination (which under Section 11(d) shall be as defined therein) and
all outstanding and accrued vacation pay to the Date of Termination.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Executive shall not be entitled to any Variable Compensation earned by the Executive
before the Date of Termination unless the Executive gives the Corporation the advanced written notice required by
Section 11(d) hereof.

If the Executive’s employment is terminated by the Corporation for any other reason other than the reasons set forth in
Section 11(a) the Executive shall be entitled to an amount equal to the total of:

®

(ii)

(iii)

@iv)

)

All outstanding base salary earned before the Date of Termination, less any amounts that the Executive received in
connection with benefits paid or payable as a result of Disability if applicable;

Any Variable Compensation which has been earned by the Executive before the Date of Termination calculated on a
pro rata basis based on the number of months in the current bonus period up to and including the Date of
Termination ((pro rata Variable Compensation = annual Variable Compensation target / 12) x the number of months
in the then-current bonus period up to and including the Date of Termination);

Additional payments based on the Executive’s length of service with the Company, calculated as Executive’s
monthly base salary for the number of months set forth in the chart on Exhibit 1, less any amounts received by
and/or payable to Executive in connection with benefits paid or payable as a result of the Disability if applicable (for
purposes of this section 11.b.(iii), Executive’s service start date is 8/14/2006);

An amount equal to !/12 of the Variable Compensation payments earned by Executive during the bonus year
preceding the current bonus year times the number of months referred to in the chart on Exhibit 1, based on
Executive’s length of service with the Company.

All outstanding and accrued vacation pay;



(vi)  All properly incurred and reasonable business expenses owing to Executive as of the Date of Termination; and

(vii) Executive’s benefits provided for in Section 5(b) shall continue only through the Date of Termination. If Executive
elects to continue his health and dental insurance coverage pursuant to COBRA, reimbursement for the COBRA
premiums for Executive and his dependents for the number of months corresponding to the months of Executive’s
severance payments as set forth in the chart on Exhibit 1.

If, at the Date of Termination, there were any memberships in any clubs, social or athletic organizations paid for by the
Corporation pursuant to Schedule B hereof at the Date of Termination, the Corporation will not take any action to
terminate such memberships but will not renew any such membership that expires or reimburse the Executive for any
further payments thereunder.

Any amounts due under Sections 12(b)(iii), and 12(b)(iv) hereunder shall be paid by the Company to Executive on a semi-
monthly basis commencing 30 days following the Date of Termination and in all events, the Company will make all
payments to the Executive under this Agreement not later than 2 !/2 months after the end of the later of the fiscal year or
calendar year in which the payments are no longer subject to a substantial risk of forfeiture. All salary, Variable
Compensation, vacation and severance payments and COBRA reimbursements will be subject to applicable state and
federal taxes and FICA withholding.

Except as expressly stipulated in Sections 11(d) or 14 hereof or in this Section 12(c), any options which have not vested as
of the Date of Termination (being in the case where the Corporation gives notice, the date specified by the Corporation as
the date on which the Executive’s employment will terminate) shall terminate and be of no further force and effect as of the
Date of Termination and neither any period of notice nor any payment in lieu thereof upon termination of employment
hereunder shall be considered as extending the period of employment for the purposes of vesting of options
notwithstanding anything to the contrary in any other agreement between the Corporation and the Executive.
Notwithstanding anything contained in this Section 12, in the event of termination by the Corporation other than for Just
Cause, the Executive shall have the right to exercise any options which are vested as at the Date of Termination for the 90
Day Period as defined in Section 11(d). Any unvested options which would have otherwise vested during such 90 Day
Period shall continue to vest during that period and to the extent any unvested options have vested during such 90 Day
Period, the Executive shall also be entitled to exercise those options within a rolling 90 day period after the date of vesting
of such options, which period will not exceed 180 days following the Date of Termination. In addition, notwithstanding



anything contained in this Section 12 or elsewhere in this Agreement, in the event of termination due to death of the
Executive, the estate of the Executive shall be entitled, at any time during the period which is 12 months following the date
of death of the Executive (the “12 Month Period”), to exercise any options which have vested as at the date of death of the
Executive. In addition, any unvested options which would have otherwise vested during such 12 Month Period shall
continue to vest during that period and to the extent of any unvested options have vested during such period, the
Executive’s estate shall be entitled to exercise those options within a period which starts on the day of vesting and ends 12
months from the date of death of the Executive.

For purposes of greater certainty, if the Executive is terminated for Just Cause, Death or if the Executive’s employment
hereunder is terminated by the Executive pursuant to Section 11(d) then no payment whatsoever shall be made to the
Executive under Sections 12(b).

13. NO FURTHER ENTITLEMENTS

Except as expressly provided in Sections 11 and 12 above and Section 14 below, where the Executive’s employment has been
terminated by the Executive or terminated or deemed to have been terminated by the Corporation for any reason, the Executive will
not be entitled to receive any further payments, in lieu of notice or as damages for any reason whatsoever. Except as to any
entitlement as expressly provided in this Agreement, the Executive hereby waives any claims the Executive may have against the
Corporation for or in respect of termination pay, severance pay, or on account of loss of office or employment or notice in lieu
thereof.

14. OPTION ACCELERATION AND SEVERANCE PAYMENTS ON CHANGE OF CONTROL

a. Termination by the Corporation

If the Executive’s employment is terminated by the Corporation upon the giving of written notice of such termination to the
Executive at any time within the 6 month period following a Change of Control (other than for Just Cause, Disability or Death), then
the Executive shall be entitled to the following:

i such payments on account of severance as provided for under Section 12(b) of this Agreement; and

ii. notwithstanding anything to the contrary in Section 12 hereof or in this Agreement, all options granted by the
Corporation to the Executive shall, following the giving of any notice by the Corporation under this Section 14(a),



be deemed to vest immediately and shall be exercisable by the Executive for a period of 90 days following the
giving of such notice by the Corporation hereunder.

b. Termination by Executive

If the Executive’s employment is terminated by the Executive upon the giving of written notice of such termination to the Corporation
within the 6 month period following a Change of Control, and within 60 days following the occurrence of a Parachute Event, which
shall be described in detail by the Executive in the written notice of termination given to the Corporation, the Executive shall be
entitled to the following:

i such payments on account of severance as provided for under Section 12(b) of this Agreement;

ii. notwithstanding anything to the contrary in Section 12 hereof or in this Agreement, all options granted by the
Corporation to the Executive shall, following the giving of proper notice by the Executive, under this Section 14(b),
be deemed to vest immediately and shall be exercisable by the Executive for a period of 90 days following the
giving of such notice.



15. DISCLOSURE

During the employment period, the Executive shall promptly disclose to the Reporting Manager full information concerning any
interest, direct or indirect, of the Executive (as owner, shareholder, partner, lender or other investor, director, officer, employee,
consultant or otherwise) or any member of his family in any business that is reasonably known to the Executive to purchase or
otherwise obtain services or products from, or to sell or otherwise provide services or products to, the Corporation or to any of its
suppliers or customers.

16. NON-COMPETITION/NON-SOLICITATION/PROPRIETARY RIGHTS AGREEMENT

The Executive agrees to execute contemporaneously with his execution of this Agreement the confidentiality, non-solicitation,
non-competition and inventions/proprietary rights agreement in substantially the form annexed hereto as Schedule “C”.

17. RETURN OF MATERIALS

All files, forms, brochures, books, materials, written correspondence, memoranda, documents, manuals, computer disks,
software products and lists (including lists of customers, suppliers, products and prices) pertaining to the business of the Corporation
or any of its subsidiaries, Affiliates, and Associates that may come into the possession or control of the Executive shall at all times
remain the property of the Corporation or such subsidiary, Affiliate or Associate, as the case may be. On termination of the
Executive’s employment for any reason, the Executive agrees to deliver promptly to the Corporation all such property of the
Corporation in the possession of the Executive or directly or indirectly under the control of the Executive. The Executive agrees not to
make for his personal or business use or that of any other party, reproductions or copies of any such property or other property of the
Corporation.

18. GOVERNING LAW

This agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Illinois.



19. SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this Agreement, including the breadth or scope of such provision, shall be held by any court of competent
jurisdiction to be invalid or unenforceable, in whole or in part, including the Schedules attached hereto and incorporated by reference,
such invalidity or unenforceability shall not affect the validity or enforceability of the remaining provisions, or part thereof, of this
Agreement and such remaining provisions, or part thereof, shall remain enforceable and binding.

20. ENFORCEABILITY

The Executive hereby confirms and agrees that the covenants and restrictions pertaining to the Executive contained in this
Agreement, are reasonable and valid and hereby further acknowledges and agrees that the Corporation would suffer irreparable injury
in the event of any breach by the Executive of his obligations under any such covenant or restriction. Accordingly, the Executive
hereby acknowledges and agrees that damages would be an inadequate remedy at law in connection with any such breach and that the
Corporation shall therefore be entitled in lieu of any action for damages, temporary and permanent injunctive relief enjoining and
restraining the Executive from any such breach.

21. ASSIGNMENT OF AGREEMENT

The Executive may not assign, pledge or encumber the Executive’s interest in this agreement nor assign any of the rights or
duties of the Executive under this agreement without the prior written consent of the Corporation. This Agreement may be freely
assigned by the Corporation to a purchaser of all or substantially all of the assets of the Corporation, a subsidiary of the Corporation, a
division of the Corporation or the Affiliates or Associates of the Corporation, as long as the purchaser/assignee expressly agrees in
writing to assume the obligations of the Corporation under this Agreement.

22. SUCCESSORS

This agreement shall be binding on and enure to the benefit of the successors and assigns of the Corporation and the heirs,
executors, personal legal representatives and permitted assigns of the Executive.

23. NOTICES

Any notice or other communication required or permitted to be given hereunder shall be in writing and either delivered by hand
or mailed by prepaid registered mail. At any time other than during a general discontinuance of postal service due to strike, lock-out
or otherwise, a notice so mailed shall be deemed to have been received three business days after the postmarked date thereof or, if
delivered by hand, shall be deemed to have been received at the time it is delivered. If there is a general discontinuance of postal
service due to strike, lock-out or otherwise, a notice sent by prepaid registered mail shall be deemed to have been received three
business days after the resumption of postal service. Notices shall be addressed as follows:

i If to the Corporation:

c/o Open Text Corporation
275 Frank Tompa Drive
Waterloo, Ontario

Canada N2L 0A1



ii. If to the Executive:

John Wilkerson

6632 Woodland Hills Lane
Plano, Texas

USA, 75024

24. LEGAL ADVICE

The Executive hereby represents and warrants to the Corporation and acknowledges and agrees that he had the opportunity to
seek and was not prevented nor discouraged by the Corporation from seeking independent legal advice prior to the execution and
delivery of this agreement and that, in the event that he did not avail himself of that opportunity prior to signing this agreement, he did
so voluntarily without any undue pressure and agrees that his failure to obtain independent legal advice shall not be used by him as a
defense to the enforcement of his obligations under this agreement.

25. RESIGNATION OF DIRECTORSHIPS, ETC.

The Executive agrees that after termination of his employment, he will, at the request of the CEO or the Reporting Manager,
tender his resignation from any position he may hold as an officer or director of the Corporation or any of its subsidiaries, Affiliates
or Associates, and the Executive further covenants and agrees, if so requested by the CEO or the Reporting Manager, not to stand for
re-election to any office of the Corporation or any of its subsidiaries, Affiliates or Associates at any time following termination of the
Executive’s employment hereunder.



26. NO DEROGATION

Nothing herein derogates from any rights the Executive may have under applicable law, except as set out in this section. The
parties agree that the rights, entitlements and benefits set out in this Agreement to be paid to the Executive are in full satisfaction of
any rights or entitlements the Executive may have as against the subsidiaries, Affiliates and Associates of the Corporation as a result
of the termination of his employment with such subsidiaries, Affiliates or Associates.

27. CURRENCY

All dollars referenced herein are in United States dollars unless expressly provided to the contrary.

28. WITHHOLDING

The Corporation shall have the right to withhold from any and all payments required to be made to the Executive pursuant to
this Agreement all federal, state, local, and/or other taxes which the Corporation determines are required to be withheld in accordance
with applicable statutes or regulations.

29. NON-DISPARAGEMENT

The Executive covenants and agrees that he shall not engage in any pattern of conduct that involves the making or publishing of
written or oral statements or remarks (including, without limitation, the repetition or distribution of derogatory rumors, allegations,
negative reports or comments) which are disparaging, deleterious or damaging to the integrity, reputation or goodwill of the
Corporation, its subsidiaries, Affiliates or Associates or its and their management.

30. PRIVACY

a.  The Executive acknowledges and agrees that the Corporation may collect, use and disclose his personal information for
purposes relating to his employment with the Corporation. The purposes of such collection, use and disclosure include, but
are not limited to:

i ensuring that the Executive is paid for his services to the Corporation which includes disclosure to third party
payroll providers;

ii. administering and/or facilitating the provision of any benefits to which the Executive is or may become entitled to,
including bonuses, medical, dental, disability and life insurance benefits, pension, group RRSP and/or stock options.
This shall include the disclosure of the Executive’s personal information to the Corporation’s third party service
providers and administrators;



iii.  compliance by the Corporation with any regulatory reporting and withholding requirements relating to the
Executive’s employment;

iv.  inthe event of a sale or transfer of all or part of the shares or assets of the Corporation or its subsidiaries or
Affiliates, disclosing to any potential acquiring organization the Executive’s personal information solely for the
purposes of determining the value of the Corporation and its assets and liabilities and to evaluate the Executive’s
position in the Corporation. If the Executive’s personal information is disclosed to any potential acquiring
organization, the Corporation will require the potential acquiring organization to agree to protect the privacy of the
Executive’s personal information in a manner that is consistent with any policy of the Corporation dealing with
privacy that may be in effect from time to time and/or any applicable law that may be in effect from time to time;

V. compliance by the Corporation of its obligations to report improper or illegal conduct by any of its directors,
officers, employees or agents under any applicable securities, criminal or other law; and

vi.  monitoring the Executive’s access to the Corporation’s electronic media services in order to ensure that the use of
such services is in compliance with the Corporation’s policies and procedures and is not in violation of any
applicable laws.

b. If the Executive’s specific consent to the collection, use or disclosure of his personal information is required in the future,
the Executive hereby agrees to provide such consent, and if the Executive refuses to provide or withdraws his consent, the
Executive acknowledges that his employment and/or his entitlement to certain employment benefits may be negatively
affected.

31. ENTIRE AGREEMENT

This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement and understanding between the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof
and supersedes all prior agreements and understandings, written or oral, among the parties relating to such subject matter, including
any other employment agreement made between the Corporation and the Executive.

32. ARBITRATION

With the exception of an action to enforce the restrictive covenants in Schedule C hereof, any dispute arising out of or relating to
this Agreement shall be resolved by final and binding arbitration in accordance with the then-current rules of the American
Arbitration Association (“AAA”). The arbitration hearing shall be held in Chicago, Illinois, unless otherwise agreed to by the parties,



before a panel of three arbitrators selected in accordance with the procedures established by the AAA. An action by the Corporation
to enforce the restrictive covenants in Schedule C may be filed in a court of competent jurisdiction as provided in Schedule C.

The party who initiates the arbitration shall pay the filing fees. The Corporation shall bear the fees of the arbitrator and any costs
of or assessed by the arbitrator. Each party shall bear the costs and expenses of its own counsel, technical advisors and expert
witnesses, unless the decision of the arbitrator otherwise directs. The decision of the arbitrators shall be tendered within sixty
(60) days of final submission of the parties in writing or any hearing before the arbitrators and shall include their individual votes.
Either party may enforce the arbitration award in any court of competent jurisdiction or in the forum selected in Section 34 below.
The parties understand and acknowledge that they are waiving their rights to a jury trial regarding any matters subject to arbitration
under this Agreement.

Signature of Executive: ——

33. FORUM SELECTION

The parties hereby agree that all demands, claims, actions, causes of action, suits, proceedings and litigation between or among
the parties or arising out of the employment relationship between the Executive and the Corporation not subject to the Arbitration
provision in Section 32 hereof shall be filed, tried and litigated only in a federal or state court located in Chicago, Illinois. In
connection with the foregoing, the parties hereto irrevocably consent to the jurisdiction and venue of such court and expressly waive
any claims or defenses of lack of jurisdiction of or proper venue by such court.

34. NO CONFLICTING OBLIGATIONS

The Executive represents and warrants that none of the negotiation, entering into or performance of this Agreement has resulted
in or may result in a breach by the Executive of any agreement, duty or other obligation with or to any Person, including, without
limitation, any agreement, duty or obligation not to compete with any Person or to keep confidential the confidential information of
any Person, and there exists no agreement, duty or other obligation binding upon the Executive that conflicts with the Executive’s
obligations under this Agreement. The Executive agrees to indemnify and hold the Corporation and its subsidiaries and Affiliates, and
their officers, directors, employees, agents and consultants harmless against any and all claims, liabilities, damages or costs incurred
by any of them by reason of an alleged violation by the Executive of the representations contained in this Section.



35. NO SET-OFF

The existence of any claim, demand, action or cause of action of the Executive against the Corporation, whether or not based
upon this Agreement, will not constitute a defense to the enforcement by the Corporation of any covenant or agreement of the
Executive contained herein.

36. AMENDMENT

This Agreement may be amended, modified or supplemented only by a written agreement executed by each of the parties hereto.

37. HEADINGS

The headings in this Agreement have been inserted solely for ease of reference and shall not be considered in the interpretation
or construction of this Agreement.

38. COUNTERPARTS

This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which shall be an original, but such counterparts shall
together constitute one and the same agreement.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the parties hereto have executed this agreement as of the date first above written.

OPEN TEXT, INC.
Per:

/s/ Tony Preston

Tony Preston
SVP, Global Human Resources
Authorized Signing Officer

SIGNED, SEALED AND DELIVERED
in the presence of’:

/s/ John Wilkerson

~— — ' —

John Wilkerson



SCHEDULE “A”
Remuneration — Salary and Variable Compensation

Schedule “A” to the Employment Agreement made as of the 15T Day of July, 2009 by and between Open Text Inc. (the
“Corporation”) and John Wilkerson (the “Executive”).

a) The Annual Base Salary is $400,000
b) The Variable Compensation at 100% target is $ 300,000

Both “a” and “b” are subject to the provisions of Section 7 of the Employment Agreement.



SCHEDULE “B”
Remuneration — Executive Benefits

Schedule “B” to the Employment Agreement made as of the 1t Day of July 2009, by and between Open Text Corporation (the
“Corporation”) and John Wilkerson (the “Executive”).
Benefits to be enjoyed by the Executive during the term of this Agreement shall include:

(i) reimbursement of reasonable cell-phone or Blackberry expenses consistent with corporate policy;

(ii) each fiscal year you will be entitled to a $5,000 (USD currency equivalent) perquisite allowance which may be used for
reimbursement of the following types of services or fees:

. Financial planning
. Tax planning
. Estate planning

o Athletic/Health Club

(ii1) the services of Medisys Health Group Inc, or a provider of your choice (Medcam), shall be retained to provide annual
mandatory and regular Health Examinations to our senior executive team.



SCHEDULE C

EMPLOYEE CONFIDENTIALITY AND
NON-SOLICITATION AGREEMENT - GENERAL

As an employee of Open Text Corporation or any related or affiliated company (the “Company”):

A. T understand and agree that I have a responsibility to protect and avoid the unauthorized use or disclosure of confidential
information of the Company; and

B. I have a responsibility not to solicit or entice away from the Company any customer of the Company or any employee of the
Company.

I.  Confidential Information. For purposes of this Agreement, the term “confidential information” means all information that
is not generally known and which I obtained from the Company, or learn, discover, develop, conceive or create during the
term of my employment with the Company, and which relates directly to the business or to assets of the Company.
Confidential information includes, but is not limited to: inventions, discoveries, know-how, ideas, computer programs,
designs, algorithms, processes and structures, product information, research and development information, lists of clients
and other information related thereto, financial data and information, business plans and processes, and any other
information of the Company that the Company informs me, or which I should know by virtue of my position or the
circumstances in which I learned it, is to be kept confidential. Confidential information also includes information obtained
by the Company in confidence from its vendors or its clients. Confidential information may or may not be labeled as
“confidential”. If I am unsure as to whether information is “confidential”, I will ask my manager for assistance.

Confidential information does not include any information that has been made generally available to the public. It also does not
include any general technical skills or general experience gained by me during my employment with the Company. I understand that
the Company has no objection to my using these skills and experience in any new business venture or employment following the
cessation of my employment with the Company.

I recognize and acknowledge that in the course of my employment with the Company I may obtain knowledge of confidential and
proprietary information of a special and unique nature and value and I may become familiar with trade secrets of the Company
relating to the conduct and details of the Company’s business. While I am employed by the Company and for a period of three years
following the cessation of my employment I agree:

A. to keep confidential and hold in secrecy and not disclose, divulge, publish, reveal or otherwise make known, directly or indirectly,
or suffer or permit to be disclosed, divulged, published, revealed or otherwise made known to any person whatsoever, or used (except
for the benefit and proper purposes of the Company), and shall faithfully do all in my power to assist the Company in holding in
secrecy all of the Company’s confidential information as defined above.

B. to keep confidential and hold in secrecy and not disclose, divulge, publish, reveal or otherwise make known, directly or indirectly,
or suffer or permit to be disclosed, divulged, published, revealed or otherwise made known to any person whatsoever, or used (except
for the benefit and proper purposes of the Company) any and all secrets or confidential information related to the Company’s
activities or affairs which I now know or which are hereafter disclosed or made known to me or otherwise learned or acquired by me,
including information respecting the business affairs, prospects, operations or strategic plans respecting the Company, which
knowledge I gain in my capacity as an employee of the Company and which knowledge is not publicly available or disclosed.

I1. Agreement Not to Solicit. I agree that while I am an employee of the Company and for six (6) months thereafter that I will:

A. not solicit or entice or attempt to solicit or entice away from the Company any of the employees of the Company to enter into
employment or service with any person, business, firm or corporation other than the Company;



B. not solicit or entice or attempt to solicit or entice away from the Company any customer or any other person, firm or corporation
dealing with the Company.

II1. Return of Documents. Upon the cessation of my employment with the Company for any reason, I agree to return to the
Company all records, documents, memoranda, or other papers, copies or recordings, tapes, disks containing software, computer
source code listings, routines, file layouts, record layouts, system design information, models, manuals, documentation and notes as
are in my possession or control. I acknowledge and agree that all such items are strictly confidential and are the sole and exclusive
property of the Company.

IV. General.

A. T further represent and warrant that I have not entered into any Agreement with any previous or present employer which would
prevent me from accepting employment with the Company or which would prevent me from lawfully executing this Agreement.

B. I understand that the obligations outlined in this Agreement are the concern and responsibility of all employees of the Company. I
agree to report in writing any violations of these policies to my manager or to the Vice-President of Human Resources.

C. All the provisions of this Agreement will be deemed severable, and if any part of any provision is held illegal, void or invalid
under applicable law, such provision may be changed to the extent reasonably necessary to make the provision, as so changed, legal,
valid and binding. If any provision of this Agreement is held illegal, void or invalid in its entirety, the remaining provisions of this
Agreement will not in any way be affected or impaired, but will remain binding in accordance with its terms.

D. This Agreement and all the rights and obligations arising here from shall be interpreted and applied in accordance with the laws of
the Province of Ontario and in the courts of the Province of Ontario there shall be exclusive jurisdiction to determine all disputes
relating to this Agreement and all the rights and obligations created hereby. I hereby irrevocably attorn to the jurisdiction of the courts
of the Province of Ontario.

E. I acknowledge that my employment with the Company is contingent on my acceptance and my observance of this Agreement, and
that such employment is adequate and sufficient consideration to bind me to all of the covenants and agreements made by me under
this Agreement.

Judith Wilkerson John D. Wilkerson

Print Name of Witness Print Name of Employee
/s/ Judith Wilkerson /s/ John D. Wilkerson
Signature of Witness Signature of Employee

Date:




Exhibit 1

Severance Payment vs. Length of Service

Severance Payments in Months

Length of Service (years)
Less than or equal to 1 year employment, but less than 10 years

12 months severance

Greater than or equal to 10 years continuous employment

12 months severance for employment up to 10 years.
Employment exceeding 10 years, executive will receive an
additional (1) month severance for each additional year of
employment over 10 years. Up to a maximum of 24 months

severance.




Exhibit II
EQUITY OWNERSHIP POLICY

In a continuing effort to align the interests of the Executives of Open Text Corporation, with the interests of OPEN TEXT’s
shareholders, the Board of Directors (the “Board”) hereby establishes required OPEN TEXT equity ownership guidelines (the
“Guidelines”).

COVERED EXECUTIVES

OPEN Text’s Executive Chairman/CSO, CEO/President, All NEO’s (Named Executive Officers), Executive Leadership Team (ELT-
Tier 1), any other Executives (Tier 2) having an Executive Agreement with a “Change of Control” (the “CoC”) clause is a covered
executive (the “Covered Executive”) under this policy.

EQUITY OWNERSHIP LEVEL

The Board establishes that the Covered Executives listed below achieve the equity ownership levels shown within five (5) years of the
date of the establishment of this Policy (i.e., by October 1, 2014) or, for an executive who becomes a Covered Executive after the date
this Policy was adopted, within five (5) years after the date of his/her qualification as a Covered Executive, and hold the number of
OPEN TEXT shares or share equivalents for so long as they are Covered Executives.

. Executive Chairman* 4x base salary
. CFO/President* 4x base salary
. ELT (Tier 1) 2x base salary
. Executives with CoC Agreement (Tier 2) Ix base salary

* The share ownership level for new incumbents to the Executive Chairman and CEO roles will be reviewed and approved by
the Compensation Committee at that time.

Covered Executives may achieve their associated level through the award of stock option exercises, purchases under the OPEN TEXT
Employee Stock Purchase Plan (ESPP), through open market purchases made in compliance with applicable securities laws and
exchange rules or through any equity plans OPEN TEXT may adopt from time to time.

Until required ownership levels have been reached, Covered Executives are required to retain a minimum of 50% of the net proceeds
of any stock option exercise, or LTIP award to be used towards share ownership.

For compliance purposes, the shares will be valued at the greater of their book value (i.e., purchase price) or the current market value.
The CEO/President will address non-compliance issues for Tier 1 and Tier 2 Covered Executives, as necessary. The Compensation
Committee will address non-compliance issues for the CEO/President and the Executive Chairman, as necessary.

The Board shall have the power to, at any time and from time to time either prospectively or retrospectively, (i) suspend or terminate
the Policy, (ii) amend the Policy if required under applicable law, and (iii) to amend this Policy for administrative or other non-
substantive amendments.



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATIONS

I, John Shackleton, certify that:

1.
2.

I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Open Text Corporation;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state
a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such
statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report,
fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the
registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Securities Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal
control over financial reporting (as defined in Securities Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for
the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to
be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant,
including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly
during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial
reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this
report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end
of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that
occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the
case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal
control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board
of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record,
process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

By: /s/ JOHN SHACKLETON

John Shackleton
President and Chief Executive Officer

Date: October 28, 2009



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATIONS

I, Paul McFeeters, certify that:

1.
2.

I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Open Text Corporation;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state
a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such
statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report,
fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the
registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Securities Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal
control over financial reporting (as defined in Securities Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for
the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to
be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant,
including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly
during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial
reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this
report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end
of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that
occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the
case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal
control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board
of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record,
process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

By: /s/ PAUL MCFEETERS

Paul McFeeters
Chief Financial Officer

Date: October 28, 2009



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED
PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Open Text Corporation (the “Company”) for the
quarter ended September 30, 2009 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the
“Report”), I, John Shackleton, President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18
U.S.C. (S) 1350, as adopted pursuant to (S) 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial
condition and results of operations of the Company.

/s/ JOHN SHACKLETON

John Shackleton
President and Chief Executive Officer

Date: October 28, 2009



Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED
PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Open Text Corporation (the “Company”) for the
quarter ended September 30, 2009 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the
“Report”), I, Paul McFeeters, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. (S) 1350, as
adopted pursuant to (S) 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial
condition and results of operations of the Company.

/s/ PAUL MCFEETERS

Paul McFeeters
Chief Financial Officer

Date: October 28, 2009
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